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GUIDE TO THE REPORT

1. The body of the report is designed to be a self-
standing account. Where further information is
desired it is to be found on the Iraq Fatality
Investigations website. Additional source material and
evidence has been published on the website.

2. There are findings made throughout the review
where consideration has been given to certain areas
of the evidence. This has been done to allow for a
progressive approach to the findings, leading to the
central findings in sections 10 to 13. Section 14
contains my concluding comments and
recommendations.

3. Photographs, plans, items of relevance to the
detailed events and key documents relating to the
legal framework are to be found in Annexes A to F of
the Report. These Annexes have been used so as to
reduce citation of material.
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SECTION 1: INTRODUCTORY
OBSERVATIONS AND CONSIDERATIONS

1.1 This report records the outcome of the seventh
Investigation referred to the Iraq Fatality
Investigations (‘IFI'). Unlike the previous
Investigations, each of which concerned the death
of a civilian in Iraq after the end of the combat
phase of the war, this Investigation concerns the
death of a prisoner of war (‘PW’)" in the early stages
of the combat period of the war. The Ministry of
Defence (‘MOD’) has, at various times, given
considerable attention to the preparation of
instructions for the proper handling of PW
emphasising the priority which should be attached
to the instructions being followed. The Preface to
the March 2001 Edition of the Joint Warfare
Publication 1-10 (‘{JWP 1-10’),° being the JWP
current at the time of these events, explains the
approach of the Ministry:

“Given the sensitivity and the potential serious
political implications should an error occur

' | have decided to adopt this abbreviation, which is in line with that
used in NATO STANAG 2044 “Procedures for Dealing with
Prisoners of War (PW)” and STANAG 2074 “Treatment of Exercise
Prisoners of War During NATO Exercises”. In doing so, | note that
‘EPW’ and ‘PoW’ have been used in material relating to this
Investigation to denote the same.

2 Joint Warfare Publication 1-10, March 2001. Relevant extracts are
at Annex F.

12



SECTION 1: INTRODUCTORY OBSERVATIONS AND
CONSIDERATIONS

when handling Prisoners of War, it is intended
to produce an all embracing, definitive
document that should require few additional
supporting publications”.

JWP 1-10 will be referred to below as it forms part
of the legal framework for the Investigation.

1.2 My remit is grounded in my Terms of Reference
(‘TOR’). In turn they are grounded in Article 2 ECHR
and related principles which have been developed
by the courts. Fundamentally | am charged to
iInvestigate all the circumstances surrounding the
death of the deceased. The appropriate starting
point, which has driven the lines of inquiry, has
been the status of the deceased as a PW. | have
examined all the evidence which has become
available to me in order to see whether an error
occurred in the course of the handling of him which
caused or contributed to his death. If it did, the
political implications of its occurrence are not a
relevant concern for me, but the circumstances of its
occurrence constitute the heart of the Investigation.
Equally | have examined and considered whether
an error occurred in the investigative process
following his death. The due process of law in
connection with the death of PW includes a
requirement for an investigation to take place so as

13
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to reinforce the rights conferred on PW and to
underpin the rights of the next of kin.®

1.3 A number of shortcomings in the process adopted
following the death of Mr. Mahmud have given rise
to suggestions his death was covered up. The
approach of the military high command, in particular
its immediate response to reports coming out of
theatre and whether it paid due regard to the legal
framework governing its obligations, as well as its
response to the P&SS investigation subsequently
ordered and completed in 2004, have been the
subject of public comment and have given rise to
allegations of a cover-up. | shall set out the legal
framework which governed the operation and return
to consider my remit in connection with these
allegations. | have devoted considerable time to
guestioning all the relevant witnesses and have
analysed all the evidence in order to ascertain
whether any grounds exist for a conclusion that
there has been a cover-up. This process has added
enormously to the length of the Investigation.

Guarding and Escorting PW

1.4 The Rules of Engagement (‘RoE’) in force and
which had been issued to every RAF Regt Gunner
stated:

“UK Forces assigned to the escort or guarding
of IZ PWs (lraqi Prisoners of War), may use

% See section 9, “The Legal Framework”.
14



SECTION 1: INTRODUCTORY OBSERVATIONS AND
CONSIDERATIONS

minimum force, up to and including lethal
force, to control the movement, or prevent
escape of PWs.™

The role of an escort is defined in JWP 1-10,
Annex 3B1, as a role “...both to protect and
prevent able-bodied PW from escaping or being
liberated.’™ It is recognized that inherent tension
will exist where soldiers are guarding and
escorting PW and that the use of force required to
fulfil the role could match the treatment to be
levelled at a combatant. It follows that in very
material respects the role of guarding and
escorting a PW differs from the role to be
performed when handling civilians in the course of
maintaining law and order in a post-combat
situation.

1.5 Further, it has to be noted that the PW being
handled on the night in question were categorised in
the briefing for the mission given to the soldiers as,
“high-value assets”, “dangerous men”, and
“Fedayeen”, likely to be armed or include a suicide
bomber.® A principal purpose for the briefing was to
convey the need for an orderly, controlled, tight and

secure transfer in the difficult and cramped

4‘OP ROW / OP TELIC - ROEFE..
5 JWP 1-10 Annex 3B1, Annex F

® See section 6 “Pre-mission Preparation and Instructions” at
sections 6.7 — 6.22
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conditions of two aircraft. The ratio of soldiers to
each PW was two to one with the movement of PW
in accordance with a rehearsed plan. The time
constraint for the mission was set by the need for it
to be completed in the hours of darkness.’

The Circumstances of the Handling

1.6 The man who died and who has been referred to
as Mr. Tariq Sabri Mahmud was captured in
company with 62 other PW in the course of a
specialist mission carried out by the coalition forces
(‘CF’) of Australian, British and US military, during
the combat phase of the Iraq war on the night of 11
/ 12 April 2003. The mission involved the
transportation by the British Forces (‘BF’) of 63 PW
to a US-controlled holding facility in the Western
Ramadi desert, adjacent to the BF base. Two
chinook aircraft travelled to a pick-up point (‘PUP’)
in the desert, where the PW had been captured by
Australian Forces (‘AAF’), containing one embedded
member of the US Forces (‘USAF’).

" Ibid.
16



SECTION 1: INTRODUCTORY OBSERVATIONS AND
CONSIDERATIONS

Burial and Identification

1.7 The deceased was buried in the early hours of the
12 April by the US medical team. The evidence
regarding the process adopted by the USAF to
establish his identity has not persuaded me that |
can accept the reliability of the conclusion.® Despite
further inquiries conducted by me it has not proved
possible to ascertain the identity of the deceased
according to any satisfactory standard of proof. The
inquiries | pursued and my findings in this regard
are set out later in this report.® | considered whether
exhumation to establish his identity as well as the
cause of death should take place but concluded that
the chances of obtaining valuable evidence were so
slight that the process was overwhelmingly
outweighed by the expense which would be
involved and the problems connected with obtaining
valid consent.™ | have chosen to refer to the
deceased as ‘Mr. Mahmud’ throughout this report so
as to maintain consistency with my TOR and
previous investigations. My choice should not be
taken to indicate any conclusion with regard to the
identity of the deceased.

8 See sections 10.3 — 10.6

® See Section 10, “Issue 1: Identification of the Deceased and
Participation of the Family”.

10 See sections 10.14 — 10.15

17
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1.8 | should record that | have received invaluable
assistance in my attempts to identify the deceased
from QC Law in Basra, to which | refer in section
10.1

Availability of Contemporary Records

1.9 The Investigation has been complex. It has
involved assistance from many witnesses and
detailed consideration of sensitive material. | have
been greatly assisted throughout by co-operation
from a number of soldiers who were involved in the
actual transportation of Mr. Mahmud and a number
of withesses from the military high command who
were involved in the aftermath and the reporting of
the incident. | can record willingness and
consequent effort to fulfil my requests for disclosure,
but it is noteworthy that documents and records
which |, in company with the witnesses, believe
would have been made at the time, have not been
found. The absence of documents and records,
which it is reasonable to believe once existed,
inevitably generates suspicion on the part of an
investigative fact finder. Their absence has caused
me to devote longer to the process of questioning
than should have been necessary. Despite the gaps
in disclosure, | have not concluded that documents
were deliberately destroyed or withheld so as to
avoid them having to be disclosed. The
administrative framework through which

1 See sections 10.11 - 10.12
18



SECTION 1: INTRODUCTORY OBSERVATIONS AND
CONSIDERATIONS
communications have passed and the prevailing
urgency under which things were done were not
conducive to the tidy creation and preservation of
records.

1.10 That said, the lack of contemporary
documents has proved to be troublesome, time
consuming and unsatisfactory. | understand that
measures to improve the electronic archiving of
documents, in particular those created in the course
of military operations, have improved. | have not
taken detailed evidence on the systems which have
now been established but | have taken statements
from witnesses who carried out repeated searches
at my request who have been able to provide
information on the current processes.' | have little
doubt that it has been recognised that there is a
necessity for the conduct of military operations and
affairs to be recorded so that the demands of public
accountability and the public interest can be met
through satisfactory and speedy disclosure. Later |
shall identify and comment on the specific gaps in
disclosure which | have encountered.’

1.11 A considerable volume of material has been
published on the website in connection with the
death of Mr. Mahmud. This material should be
regarded as a supplementary part of this report. The
material includes transcripts from public hearings

253065 IFI MOD-83-0000583-A
13 See sections 7.4 — 7.7, 7.21 and 11.10
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held between 15 to 17 May 2018. It has been done
in an endeavour to avoid lengthy citation in the body
of the report and unnecessary duplication. The
report will appear on the website after the hard copy
has been published.

Some Particular Considerations to be taken
iInto Account when Assessing the Evidence

1.12  When assessing the evidence from those in
theatre the following should be taken into account:

1.A specialist operation entails limitations on
imparting information which call for particular
attention when assessing the evidence. In the
normal course knowledge in connection with the
event will, at least to some degree, be imparted
to colleagues. If the evidence shows that it was
not, the reliability of withesses can come into
guestion and it can give rise to a suspicion that
the true facts have been withheld by withesses
getting together to give an agreed account or
cover up the details. | have given attention to
the specialist character of this operation;

2.The environment prevailing on this mission

would not have been conducive to prompt
exchanges of information;

20
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CONSIDERATIONS

3.A decision-making structure appropriate to the
conduct of a war, comprising layers of authority
and responsibility, will operate to limit
exchanges. It will give rise to repeated chain
reporting and the risk of unreliable and
misunderstood messages;

4.A heightened sense of danger and urgency,
which is bound to be present in a theatre of war,
narrows the concentration of those involved to
the area of their responsibility and acts so as to
exclude their awareness of wider events.

21
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SECTION 2: THE ORIGIN AND REACH OF
THE INVESTIGATIONS

2.1 The origin and purposes of the IFIl, sometimes
referred to as the Iraq Judicial Investigations,
appear from the reports, rulings and public
statements published on the website at
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/iraqg-
fatality-investigations. The website carries an
extensive documentary record from which the legal
background, objectives, procedures and the course
of each of the Investigations can be seen.

2.2 The jurisdictional remit of the IFI has its origins in
various judgments of the European Court of Human
Rights (ECtHR) at Strasbourg. A succinct survey
can be seen from the judgment of the Divisional
Court, the judgment of the Grand Chamber of the
Strasbourg Court in Al Skeini and Others v United
Kingdom,'* and more recently judgments from
Leggatt J in the Administrative Court in Al Sadoon
and Others v Secretary of State for Defence.™

2.3 The detailed legal background to the IFl is set out
in full in the consolidated report into the death of
Nadeem Abdullah and Hassan Abbas Said,

120111 53 E.H.R.R 18
1°12015] EWHC 715 (Admin)
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SECTION 2: THE ORIGIN AND REACH OF THE
INVESTIGATIONS

published in March 2015. It is sufficient to record
that the specific obligations which govern the reach
and purpose of this Investigation are set out in two
judgments of the Divisional Court in the action of R
(Ali Zaki Mousa and others) v the Secretary of State
for Defence (No. 2).'” By an order of the Divisional
Court dated 31 October 2013, the Secretary of
State for Defence was ordered to hold inquiries into
civilian deaths in lIraq in any cases where he
accepted that there existed an Article 2 ECHR
obligation to hold an inquiry and where it was clear
that there would be no prosecution of any British
soldiers alleged to have been involved in the
deaths.

'8 lraq Fatality Investigations, “Consolidated Report into the death of
Nadheem Abdullah and the death of Hassan Abbas Said” (March
2015)

712013] EWHC 1412 (Admin) and [2013] EWHC 2941 (Admin)
respectively.
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SECTION 3: THE TERMS OF REFEFENCE
AND PROTECTIVE PROCEDURES FOR THE
INVESTIGATION

Terms of Reference

3.1 On 25 May 2017 | was appointed to conduct an
inquiry into the death of Mr. Mahmud. My
appointment is subject to the Terms of Reference
(‘TOR’) set out below:

“TERMS OF REFERENCE
The Scope of the Investigations.

1. The investigation into the death of Tanik Sabri
Mahmud on 11 April 2003 (‘the death’) is to be
conducted to establish the relevant facts and
accountability for the death, thereby discharging
the positive obligations of the State pursuant to
Article 2 of the European Convention on Human
Rights.

2. The investigation must be accessible to the
family of the deceased and to the public,
thereby bringing the facts to public scrutiny.

3. The investigation should look into and consider
the immediate and surrounding circumstances
in which the death occurred.

24



SECTION 3: THE TERMS OF REFEFENCE AND

PROTECTIVE PROCEDURES FOR THE INVESTIGATION

4.

The investigation should encompass the wider
circumstances of the death, including the
instructions, training, and supervision given to
the soldiers involved.

Where facts are found in connection with the
instructions, training and supervision given to
the soldiers, consideration should be given to
whether it is proportionate or necessary to
make recommendations on the issues raised
taking into account the extent to which the
issues raised have already been considered by
the Ministry of Defence or other inquiries.

The investigation is to be conducted so as to
bring to light all the facts, including failures on
the part of the State and facts from which such
failures could be properly inferred.

The Conduct of the Investigation.

/. The procedure and the conduct of the

investigation are to be such as the Inspector
may direct so as to achieve the aims and
purposes set out above and to comply with the
terms of the Court's judgements, Orders and
directions.

25
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8. The Inspector will draw up and publish the
procedures which are to be followed to
progress the investigation, and so far as
appropriate conduct the investigation in
accordance with the published procedures
established in previous investigations. In this
regard he will follow the guidance given by the
Court about the extent to which legal
representation will be necessary, the
questioning of witnesses and the opportunity to
be given to the next of kin to raise lines of
inquiry.

9. The Inspector will from time to time consider
and keep under review the need for procedures
to be made public in connection with any of the
aims and purposes of the investigation.

10. The Inspector has the power to require any
person or organization to provide evidence in
writing, to produce relevant material in their
possession or control and to attend a public
hearing to give oral evidence.

11.The Inspector is to commence his investigation
by considering all the relevant documentation in
the possession of the Ministry of Defence and
any relevant information emanating from
Service Policy and Service Prosecution
Authority.

26



SECTION 3: THE TERMS OF REFEFENCE AND
PROTECTIVE PROCEDURES FOR THE INVESTIGATION

12.Having considered all the documents which are
to be supplied to him and any further
documents or information which he may have
requested the Inspector will decide what needs
to be disclosed to interested persons, the next
of kin of the deceased or the public to enable
the investigations to be accessible and subject
to public scrutiny.

13. Where the Ministry of Defence considers
publication or disclosure would be damaging to
national security, international relations of the
State, or the safety of any individual it shall
bring its considerations to the notice of the
Inspector who, having heard such
representations from the Ministry as may be
necessary, will determine the extent to which
publication or disclosure is required in order
achieve the aims and purpose of the
investigations.

14.At the conclusion of an investigation the
Inspector will produce a written report which
sets out:
a) a narrative account of the circumstances in
which the death occurred; and
b) any recommendations he has decided to
make.

27
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15. The report will not be concerned to determine
or address any person'’s criminal or civil liability.
But the investigations are not to be inhibited by
the likelihood of liability being inferred from the
facts found or recommendations made.”

28



SECTION 3: THE TERMS OF REFEFENCE AND
PROTECTIVE PROCEDURES FOR THE INVESTIGATION

Protection against Self-Incrimination, Medical
Support and Anonymity for Soldiers

3.2 Soldiers should be encouraged to be full and
frank in giving their evidence. The burden and
uncertainty to which historic investigations can give
rise should not be underestimated. For that reason
and to that end such protection as might be
available to them from the Attorney General, the
Director of Public Prosecutions and the Director of
Service Prosecutions has been provided.

3.3 On 29 August 2017 | received an email from the
Attorney General’s Office confirming that the
undertaking given to me by letter dated 4 August
2014, to the effect that no evidence given before the
IFI would be used in evidence against that person in
any subsequent criminal proceedings, also applied
to soldiers giving evidence to the IFl in the course of
the enquiry into the death of Mr. Mahmud.'®

3.4 | also sought an undertaking from the
International Criminal Court at the Hague ('ICC’)
regarding the non-use of self-incriminating evidence
given by soldiers to the IFl. An assurance was given
by Fatou Bensouda, the Chief Prosecutor at the
ICC, by letter dated 4 August 2017.'°

8 MOD-83-0000469-A Email from the Attorney-General's Office

dated 29 August 2017
9 etter from Ms Bensouda dated 4 Augqust 2017.
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3.5 Some soldiers asked to assist the IFI find the
process of giving evidence distressing. They may
also be suffering from PTSD and psychological
trauma dating back to their service in Iraq and
elsewhere. Accordingly, from the first point of
contact, the IFlI has made soldiers aware of the
availability of mental health support in addition to
the availability of legal advice and assistance. It may
be helpful to emphasise that the legal assistance is
not intended to cover a lawyer fulfilling the role of an
advocate having a right of audience to cross-
examine and make representations on the facts and
law. Each case will give rise to different
considerations but there are no parties to the
process and the principal aim is that witnesses
should understand the procedure and have the
benefit of legal advice and support to enable them
to co-operate. It is within the discretion of the
Inspector to adopt whatever measures are likely to
assist justice. Further whilst the process of these
Investigations has obvious similarities to the
purpose and procedure adopted in statutory and
other inquiries, it is a unique process modelled on
the judgment of the Divisional Court in the case of
Ali Zaki Mousa.?°

3.6 On 4 October 2016 | made a Ruling providing
guidance on the circumstances in which anonymity

2012013] EWHC 2941 (Admin)
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SECTION 3: THE TERMS OF REFEFENCE AND
PROTECTIVE PROCEDURES FOR THE INVESTIGATION
was likely to be available in the context of the IFI.
The Ruling is available on the IFI website.?" It stated
the general principle, namely where the criteria set
out in the guidance were met and it was also
otherwise appropriate, anonymity would be
available, to allow soldiers to give their evidence,
both written and oral, anonymously. The Ruling sets
out some of the reasons which are likely to be
present and taken into account in deciding whether
anonymity should be granted or refused.
Nonetheless, each request has to be considered on
its merits.

21 General Ruling on Anonymity 4 October 2016
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3.7 Where an application for anonymity has been
granted the cipher to be used for the particular
individual will be available in the Report and on the
website. The archive of the Report will carry a
record which will enable an individual to be
identified if and only if the public interest requires it.

3.8 There are special circumstances surrounding the
death of Mr. Mahmud which have led me to grant
anonymity and to permit the use of ciphers by the
majority of withesses. The special circumstances
iInclude the security sensitivities involved in a
specialist mission to detain PW behind enemy lines
in the course of a war. Such covert operations are
for recognised and established reasons treated as
sensitive. The involvement of BF, acting in concert
with other CF to conduct a specialist mission of this
nature, gives rise to wide ranging sensitivities and
has the potential to be of enduring interest to a
variety of observers both in the UK and overseas.
Whilst it occurred a number of years ago, it seems
to me to be too early to assume that its occurrence
will not be acutely relevant to a variety of persons
and groups. Because the mission took place as an
organised aspect of the conduct of the war, there
was significant involvement on the part of the BF
high command and CF in its implementation and in
the immediate inquiries carried out in its aftermath.
The publication of the identity of those involved
would have added nothing to the search for facts
but could, at a time when the global distribution of
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information is routine and prevalent, create undue
risks to those involved in a potentially contentious
event.
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SECTION 4: THE MILITARY FRAMEWORK

4.1 The actions of the members of the armed forces
in the course of war are dictated and occur in
accordance with the established military framework
for the war.

“Throughout the history of warfare, the
capture and treatment of prisoners has been
an emotive subject’.?

Responsibility for PW rests with the commander:
“He must know exactly what his responsibilities
for PW and their handling are”. His main
responsibilities in this respect include ensuring
that the individual members of his force comply
with the provisions of the Geneva Conventions
and that PW captured by his force are treated in
accordance with the Law of Armed Conflict.?

A Specialist Mission

4.2 The mission was ordered at short notice during
the combat phase, at the height of hostilities, behind
enemy lines and deep in enemy territory. It was a
specialist mission in connection with the capture of
persons believed to be significant hostile members
or supporters of the enemy forces. The mission
involved specialist units of each the CF. For the
majority of those involved, the handling of PW was

22 JWP 1-10, paragraph 101.
2 |bid, paragraphs 204-205.
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outside their experience. It had been the subject of
normal RAF Regt. PW handling training and, as the
evidence shows, additional mission-specific training
in theatre was given.?* However there were three
layers of command in the aircraft alone. Firstly, a
Specialist Military Unit (‘SMU’) liaison officer
(SO53), on this occasion a non-commissioned
officer, who was in charge of seeing that the mission
was completed and reporting to his headquarters
during and after its completion. Secondly, the pilot
and the aircrew who were responsible for the safety
and completion of the flight and who reported to
their command HQ. Thirdly, the RAF soldiers were a
unit under a commissioned officer (SO55) who was
the Airborne Reaction Force (‘ARF’) Commander,
but on this mission were under the command of
S0O53 (being the SMU liaison officer). The officer
commanding Il Squadron of the RAF (SO47) was
not in command of the seconded RAF soldiers for
the duration of the tasking, but he was to play a
significant role in the aftermath.?®

The Military Framework

4.3 Between 20 March and 1 May 2003, BF were
deployed under Operation (‘Op’) TELIC as part of
the American-led coalition invasion of Irag. As Op
TELIC was a coalition operation, the UK national
and operational headquarters were integrated within

24 See sections 6.1 — 6.3
2 85047 IFI MOD-083-000580-A, paragraphs 15— 19; 40 — 68
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the coalition command structure in preparation for
the invasion.
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PJHQ

4.4 The Permanent Joint Headquarters (‘PJHQ’)
command structure was based at Northwood and
headed by the Chief of Joint Operations (‘CJO").
The CJO reported to the Chief of the Defence Staff
(‘CDS’), who was based at the MOD Main Building
in Whitehall. During Op TELIC, PJHQ commanded
operations in Afghanistan, Bosnia, Kosovo, Sierra
Leone and the UK, as well as the UK’s contributions
to UN operations in addition to those taking place in
Iraq.

4.5 The CJO'’s staff consisted of two deputies and six
Assistant Chiefs of Staff, who were in turn
responsible for the nine branches of responsibility
referred to as ‘J-Functions’ that were staffed at
Northwood. Also based at Northwood was the Joint
Forces Headquarters (‘(JFHQ'), a rapidly deployable
component to provide operational command and
control to the BF on joint or combined operations.

Integration within the Coalition Command

4.6 The integration of UK national headquarters within
the coalition command structure was effected at
PJHQ level by co-location alongside the
headquarters of US Central Command
(‘CENTCOM’) at an overseas location which | will
refer to as HQ2 Middle East, and by the embedding
of UK staff officers in functional posts within
coalition headquarters. In January 2003, JFHQ was
deployed to HQ2 Middle East to set up the National
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Contingent Command (‘NCC’) for the purposes of
the war fighting phase. National Contingent
Headquarters (NCHQ') was headed by an Air Chief
Marshal who had a full staff at HQ2 Middle East,
and came under the command of the CJO. There
were three UK Contingent Commands which came
under the NCC’s operational control.

Specialist Military Unit

4.7 The UK directorate for Specialist Military Units
(‘SMU’) was based within a London HQ, under the
command of a Director, a Brigadier who reported to
the CDS. A small SMU Cell reporting to the Director,
headed by SO64 as SMU Liaison, was based
alongside PJHQ in Northwood (‘the PJHQ SMU
Cell’) to facilitate co-ordination with the CJO.

4.8 To ensure clean liaisons with coalition forces
during the Op TELIC war phase, an SMU Cell was
established at HQ2 Middle East (‘the HQ2 Middle
East SMU Cell’) with SO61 as Component
Commander. The SMU Cell was co-located with the
NCC and CF, but operated under a separate chain
of command. The HQ2 Middle East SMU Cell took
on a primarily co-ordinating function, with
operational command devolved to the Commanding
Officers of the SMUs.

4.9 In preparation for the invasion, the American
Forces also established a Combined Task Force
(‘CJO-W’), comprising American, Australian and
British Forces and based at an overseas location |
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will refer to as HQ1 Middle East. HQ1 Middle East
was established as the British element of this task
force, and an SMU Operational HQ operated from
HQ1 Middle East under the command of a Lt Col.
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4.10 At the commencement of Op TELIC, BF were
deployed forwards from HQ1 Middle East into Iraq.
An airfield (‘H1’) was identified and designated as
one of several joint American and British Forward
Operating Bases (‘FOB’). Operational command of
BF deployed there was held by a SMU FOB
Commander reporting directly into HQ1 Middle
East.=°

Legal Chain of Command

4.11 The legal chain of command for Op TELIC
came within the MOD, headed by the Director
General Legal Services and a Director of Legal
Services and ultimately reporting to the Attorney
General and the Solicitor General.

412  There was a designated PJHQ legal cell
based at Northwood under the direction of the MOD.
The PJHQ Legal Cell was headed by a Legal
Advisor, CO1, who was responsible for advising the
CJO and who reported into the Director of Legal
Services.

413 Upon the establishment of NCHQ, an MOD
Legal Advisor, who was a Commander posted to the
JFHQ, was deployed to advise the Air Chief
Marshal. He was subsequently joined by a further
two PJHQ Legal Advisors at HQ2 Middle East. The
three UK Contingent Commands sitting below the

%6 | have not been able to establish the identity of the SMU FOB
Commander at the material time.
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NCC each were staffed with service lawyers, who
reported up the legal chain of command into the
Commander at NCHQ. He in turn reported into the
PJHQ Legal Cell.

4.14  ltis particularly relevant to note that at the
time material to this Investigation, the SMU did not
have designated legal advisors based at the SMU
London HQ or at the deployed HQs. The official
legal chain of command was through the MOD,
however legal advice was informally taken by the
SMU Cells at PJHQ Northwood and at HQ2 Middle
East from the PJHQ legal advisors posted at those
bases.

Il Sgn RAF Regt

415 11 Sgn RAF Regt (‘'ll Sgn’) was based at RAF
Honnington. In October 2002, || Sqn was assigned
to HQ1 Middle East, tasked with defending HQ1
Middle East’s aircraft, air operating bases and
supporting equipment.

416 At the commencement of Op TELIC, the
majority of Il Sgn, including the Officer Commanding
(‘OC’) Il Sgn (SO47), were deployed forwards to H1
and tasked with defending the airbase.?” At some
point, either prior to leaving HQ1 Middle East or
upon arrival at H1, members of || Sgn were re-rolled
to form an ARF. Command authority for the ARF

27 3047 MOD-083-000580-A paragraphs 15; 19
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was transferred from SO47 to the FOB Commander
for the duration of this tasking.=®

417 S055, a PIt Off, was the OC the Flt assigned
to form the ARF and SO39,a Sgt was his second-in-
command (‘21C’).?° | have taken evidence from
S038, SO40, SO41, SO42, SO44, SO45, SO50,
S0O56, SO57, SO58 and SO66, who were all
members of the ARF and were among the crew

members on board the aircraft that carried Mr.
Mahmud.°

Chinook Sgn RAF Regt

4.18  Chinook Sgn RAF Regt (‘Chinook Sqgn’)
formed part of the SMU Air Wing and was based at
RAF Odiham. Chinook Sgn were deployed to HQ1
Middle East in preparation for Op TELIC to provide
support helicopters and came under the command
of HQ1 Middle East. Chinook Sgn supplied the Air
Crew for the mission that resulted in Mr. Mahmud'’s
death.

28 bid.

29 83055 IFI MOD-83-0000584-A, paragraph 8

30 There were other members of the ARF from whom | did not take
evidence for the Investigation.
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SECTION 5: AN OUTLINE OF THE
MISSION?

5.1 At around 13.00 on 11 April 2003, a convoy of 63
PW were captured and detained by AAF at a vehicle
checkpoint ("VCP’) in the Ramadi Desert. That
afternoon, the SMU Liaison Officer, SO53, at H1
received a mission tasking for the ARF to transport
the PW by Chinook aircraft from the VCP to the US
facility at H1.

5.2 The LO briefed the ARF Commander, SO55, who
issued a warning order to the ARF. SO39, who was
S0O55’s 2IC and the Chalk Commander of Lifter 2,
took charge of the preparation of the ARF members
who were to support the mission. At around 18.30,
S0O55 and the LO briefed the ARF on the task and
rehearsals were conducted, principally by SO309.
During the mission preparation stages, SO53
emphasised that the PW being transported were
highly dangerous individuals. The PW were to be
placed on the metal floor of the aircraft, head to toe
to prevent communication, hooded and cuffed (at
this date hooding was being practised).

5.3 At 19.15, the two Lifters left H1 and arrived at the
VCP PUP at around 19.50. An eight to seven split
had been planned, but in error five PW were loaded
on to Lifter 1 and ten PW were loaded into Lifter 2.
The distribution resulted in troublesome

31 See sections 6 and 7 for a summary of the evidence
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overcrowding and loading difficulties on Lifter 2 and
contributed to the unrest which took place on this
aircraft.3?

5.4 Towards the end of the loading process, one of
the PW being boarded onto Lifter 2 resisted being
laid on the floor and was able to free his hands from
the plasticuff restraints. The PW was subdued and
put to the floor by SO38, with assistance from
members of the ARF crew. The evidence is that
significant force was required to control the PW.
Shortly after this another PW attempted to stand up.
This was probably after the loading process and in
the early stages of the flight. He was also forcibly
subdued by SO38. On arrival at H1, both PW were
unresponsive. One proved to be dead and the
other, after an interval, recovered. Which acts of
restraint could have caused injury and death to one
of the two restrained PW is not clear.®®

5.5 Upon arrival back at H1, the responsive PW were
taken off the aircraft and the unresponsive PW were
removed from the aircraft by members of the ARF
crew and loaded into the back of an American
Humvee vehicle. No medical care or attention was
given by British Forces prior to the hand-over to the
USAF. None was available. A third PW on board
Lifter 2 had prosthetic legs that had become

% See section 11.20
3 See section 6, in particular 6.32 — 6.86, and sections 11.21 —
11.30
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detached during the course of the lift. It was
necessary for him to be carried from the aircraft. He
had caused a disturbance in the course of the flight
and his prosthetic legs were examined for
explosives.>*

5.6 Once 15 PW had been delivered to the US facility
both aircraft returned to the PUP to continue the
operation. At some point prior to the conclusion of
the mission, SO53 and SO55 were separately
informed by the USAF Commander receiving the
PW at H1 that one of the two PW placed on the
Humvee after the first lift had been confirmed
dead.® The operation was completed at around

03.00 on 12 April 2003.

Investigations between June 2003 and my
Appointment

5.7 No formal investigation was ordered into the
death of Mr. Mahmud, by referral to the Provost
Marshal or otherwise, until an anonymous call was
made on 2 June 2003 to RAF Markham. The caller,
who remains unidentified, alleged that a PW had
been “continually beaten” to death by three
soldiers.* It was also alleged that the facts had
been covered up. The allegations were reported to
at least one newspaper.

34 See sections 6.58 — 6.86
3% See sections 11.8, 11.19, 12.3
3% See sections 6.95 — 6.97
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5.8 In response to this call, an RAF P&SS
investigation, Operation RAKER, was commenced
on 9 June 2003. In the course of its progress some
of those involved in carrying out the investigation
believed there may have been a cover-up. The
belief was, in part, fuelled by a stated unwillingness
at the outset of the investigation to hand over
material in connection with a specialist mission
which, it was claimed, was privileged. Differences
were resolved and Operation RAKER was
concluded on 22 June 2004, following which the
RAFPA took the decision not to prosecute.

5.9 The Op RAKER investigation was reviewed by the
Iraq Historic Allegations Team (‘IHAT’) between 14
January 2011 and 29 February 2012. The IHAT
review concluded with a recommendation that
further investigation was required.

5.10 A second RAF investigation, Operation
SPELT, was commenced thereafter. A decision was
taken not to prosecute by the Director of Service
Prosecutions on 16 December 2015.

Issues for the Investigation

5.11 Issues arising for this Investigation are as
follows:

1.The identity of the deceased.

2.Whether there was an “error” in the handling
of the PW which caused or contributed to his
death.
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3.Whether the response of those in theatre to
the events as they occurred was prompt,
effective and in accordance with what was
required.

4.\Whether the response of the high command
to the reports it received was prompt, effective
and in accordance with what was required.
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SECTION 6: EVIDENCE RECEIVED BY THE
INVESTIGATION REGARDING THE
CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE DEATH

Il Sgn Training in PW Handling

6.1 There was some evidence about training. The
evidence of SO39 was that few, if any, members of
Il Sgn would have had specific PW handling training
prior to deployment to H1, let alone hands on
experience.®’ Il Sqn had done some PW handling
while based at HQ1 Middle East. He was one of the
few members of Il Sgn with any experience in PW
handling, due to specialist training he had
conducted a number of years earlier in 1983/84
when serving in the Parachute Regiment and
Hunter Forces.* He considered that the lack of
prisoner handling training was apparent during the
mission.

6.2 SOS55’s evidence was that prisoner handling
training was not new to the Gunners, who would all
have had a level of experience in this field due to
the fact that PW handling is covered on the Basic
RAF Regt Gunners Course and is practised on
almost all exercises.*

%"'S039 IFI, 16/5/18 pp.61-62; 63-64
% S039, 9 July 2013
% S055, 20 Aug 2003
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6.3 SO41’s evidence was that he had undertaken

some PW handling training on the basic Gunners
course some six and a half years earlier, some pre-
deployment training, and some training at HQ1
Middle East. *° He also recalls that there was a |l
Sqn brief on prisoner handling, but that this was in
the context of a capitulating force.

Tasking of the Mission

6.4 A request would have been made by the AAF for
support with transportation for the mission, which
would have gone through the USAF headquartered
at HQ1 Middle East.*! It is likely that the USAF
would have referred this request to the BF to
authorise BF assets to perform the lift. This would
have been a fairly automatic request that would not
necessarily have been formally briefed.*

6.5 The mission itself was a relatively standard
operation that RAF people are trained to do and the
SMUs had a relatively peripheral role, but the LO
(SO53) was in overall charge and had the
responsibility to report back to HQ at all stages of
the mission.*?

95041, 21 July 2012; see also: SO44, 23 July 2012
15061 IFI MOD-83-0000585-A

“2 |bid.

* 1bid
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6.6 Itis not clear to me that there had been any
training for or notice of the conditions to be
encountered on the aircraft. Such conditions being
extreme heat, noise, darkness, fear and
overcrowding.

Pre-mission Preparation and Instructions

SO53

6.7 SO53 received a tasking from HQ1 Middle East to
use the ARF crew to collect PW to take them to
H1.4* As this was a SMU operation, he was the
commander on the ground for the mission.#°

6.8 He was told that the PW were potentially high
threat, quite dangerous and that they were not to
get out of control at the back of the aircraft. He also
recalled that they were to be hooded and
plasticuffed so they could not cause a disturbance,
and briefed the ARF crew on this potential danger.4
He informed the men that the PWs were “potentially
dangerous and hard-core” .4’

6.9 He considered the intended mission to have been
an operation that was familiar to him, although he
had not himself been involved in transporting PW
prior to this operation.*®

4 SO53 IFI 15/5/18 p.28

4 8053 IFI MOD-83-0000586-A, paragraph 3
4 SO53 IFI 15/5/18 pp.28-29

“7 |bid, p.30

% |bid, p.30
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6.10 SO53 was unable to recall, when asked,
about the details of how the operation would have
been conducted, but gave the view that the crew
would have carried plasticuffs and sandbags with
them on the aircraft to hood and cuff the prisoners if
needed.*°

SO55

6.11 S0O55 was notified by the LO that the mission
was to take place, and subsequently issued a
warning order to the Flt to prep for the mission. He
went to the US Forces Prisoner Handling Facility at
H1 to liaise with the USAF and spoke to the
Prisoner Handling Cell and Infantry Support
element. *°

6.12  S0O55 held an “O-Group” briefing in the tent at
around 18:30hrs local time, which he conducted
with input from the LO.>' SO53 stressed during the
course of this briefing that the prisoners were
suspected Fedayeen suicide-bombers and very
dangerous men.*

6.13  The briefing covered ‘Actions On’, that
included the possibility of prisoners trying to escape.

49 |bid, p.33

50 S0O55, IFI 17/5/18 p.4

51 SO55, 20 Aug 2003

52 5055, IFI 17/5/18 pp.6-7
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The men were reminded that the RoE applied in this
event and to use ‘minimum force’. If any PW was
uncooperative they were to be forced to the ground
and the men were to keep their weight on the PW's
back if he remained uncooperative.**

6.14  The lead in the prisoner handling instructions
was taken by SO39, who would have used both the
Tactical Aide Memoire and the Prisoner Handling
Pamphlet® in giving these instructions.*

SO39

6.15  SO039’s evidence was that there was around
40 minutes from the mission being briefed to lift off.
After a quick brief by SO53 and limited input from
S055, he took the lead in giving the “Actions On”,
Including prisoner handling instructions, and drilling
the men ahead of the mission.*° It seems to have
been generally accepted that SO39 had had more
experience than the others, which was why he took
the lead during the briefing.

6.16  His evidence was that his instructions
emphasised the use of minimum force and
maintaining the shock of capture. He instructed the

>3 8055, IFI 17/518 p.8-11; SO55, 20 Aug 2003

>* The ‘Prisoners of War Handling Aide Memoire’ appears at Annex
3A, JWP 1-10, see Annex F.

5 S055, IFI 17/518 pp.5; SO55, 20 Aug 2003

% S039, IFI 16/5/18 pp.63-64
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men to give reassuring pats to compliant prisoners,
or to use chopping motions to the shoulder, arm
(bicep) or fleshy part of the leg (thigh) if a PW was
non-compliant.®” If the PW did not comply or move
on the first chop, then two or three chops should be
used to demonstrate that the handler wanted a
command carried out. Upon compliance, a
reassurance pat would be used.*® Part of the drill
included two men armed with pistols on each
aircraft tasked as a point of last defence should any
PW get loose and approach the cockpit.®® Dialogue
with PW was, as a matter of practice (and aside
from the difficulties with language) to be avoided.®

6.17  He instructed the men to use sand bags as
hoods, but that they should just be placed over the
head and not affixed.°’ He told the men to bring
extra bags and ties in case the AAF had not
properly prepared the PW. There were relatively
large holes in the sandbags, such that there was no
doubt that PW could breathe through them while
hooded. As it turned out the PW had not been
hooded by the AAF.%

57 |bid p.65

*8 |bid pp.66-67
5 |bid p.69

% |bid p.81

®1 1bid pp.67-68
%2 1bid
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6.18  S0O39’s evidence emphasised that the
mission was conducted by very young men who
were apprehensive about the operation, and that
SO53 had “got them up for the job to an extent |
wasn’t happy with”, by stressing the dangerousness
of the men and the potential chance of suicide
bombers being on the aircraft.®® He attempted to
control the emotion, fear and pressure through a
formalised and professional drill.

% |bid p.67
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SO38

6.19  S0O38’s evidence, given to the Op RAKER
investigators under caution and confirmed to this
Investigation, echoed that of SO39 in that he states
that the ARF crew were instructed to use minimum
force and to maintain the shock of capture.® The
PW were to be “bagged and tagged”, and the
instructions were to tape the sandbag hoods in
place but not too tightly.®> He recalled that the men
were briefed that if they couldn’t handle a person,
they should “get him to the floor and if necessary sit
on him and wait until someone like [SO38] came or
the link man came who could go and get [SO38]”.°°

6.20  As part of the pre-mission preparation, it was
emphasised to the men before the mission that
there were time-pressures and that the PW were
potentially dangerous. He states:

“... at the start of this job it was
overemphasised, in my opinion, of the
dangers that we were facing. In fact | think
some of the people were whipping the
younger gunners into a part of a frenzy as in
you've got very inexperienced soldiers, but

5 3038, 20 Aug 2003 pp.209-211
% |bid, pp.209-211
% |bid, p.211
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this is the first time they've gone into a proper
operation and that was actually trying to be
dulled down so we could keep that throughout
the mission”.®’

6.21  SO38 gave evidence that there was no
interpreter free to go with the ARF crew on the
mission. It would now be Standard Operating
Procedure to have an interpreter present, but it was
not at the time. The language barrier was
significant.®®

Other accounts

6.22  There is no notable conflict in the evidence
with the accounts summarised above. The evidence
that it was emphasised to the men that the PW
might be extremely dangerous individuals is
supported by various members of the ARF Crew.

Arrival at the PUP and Receiving the PW by
AAF

SO39

6.23  On arrival at the PUP, SO39 and his linkman
(SO38) from Lifter 2 and SO53, SO55 and his
linkman from Lifter 1, went over to where the AAF

57 3038, IFI 17/5/18 p.68
% |bid p.65
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were with the PW — a distance of about 150m to
200m. The PWs were standing in a line.®®

6.24  SO39’s priority was that the PW were
searched. On arrival, they found that the PW were
not bagged, so the Flt used their own bags to bag
them. Further, their hands were only tied by a thumb
wrap to the front, but due to time pressures he
briefed the linkmen to “leave the thumb ties, bag
and search”, before kneeling the PW back down
when they were ready.’® The two linkmen prepared
the PW as instructed, starting one from each end of
the line and moving from the outside inwards. He
recalls that his linkman did find some weapons and
some documentation, which was handed to SO53,
during the conduct of the search.”

6.25  He was not aware of whether the AAF had
taken steps to identify the PW, or whether they
would have had time to do so. Under the
circumstances, given the time-pressure, language
barrier and noise, he and the Flt were not in a
position to be able to make these inquiries at the

98039, IFI 16/5/08 p.74
0 1bid, pp.75-76
" Ibid, p.78
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PUP, and he automatically thought that the ‘tagging’
process would be done at handover to the USAF.”?

6.26  Following the initial rendezvous with the AAF,
S039 called his men forwards through hand signals,
and they approached in herringbone formation and
awaited the preparation of the PW by the linkmen
before being passed PWs to move back to the ac.”

6.27  S0O39 was aware of a holdall bag being
passed over by the Australians, but he was on the
periphery as he had not been briefed on it and it
was within the domain of Lifter 1. He was aware that
some weapons were found by his linkman, SO38,
and documentation that may have been identity
documents.”

6.28  The Australians became involved in the
loading process, and as a result the PWs ended up
in the wrong place.” The plan had been to load
eight PW in one aircraft and seven in the other, all
laid down top to toe.”® He was aware that extra men
had been loaded onto Lifter 2, which he presumed
was by the AAF.”” He was positioned near the front
of the aircraft by this time when this started, and the

72 |bid, p.78

3 1bid, p.75; see also SO55, 20 Aug 2003.
7 |bid, p.77

> 1bid, pp.79-80

6 |bid, p.70

7 Ibid, p.80
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extra men had already been loaded on by the time
he got to the rear. PWs had to be shifted up in order
to close the ramp, and they were moved by the ARF
members getting hold of them on the back with two
hands and being pulled up.”®

SO38

6.29  SO38 stated that the plasticuffs applied by the
Australians were put around the PW’s thumbs and
were not tight enough. The decision was made at
the PUP not to re-plasticuff everyone.’®

6.30  He was given a bag by an American call sign,
containing intelligence, which he took and handed
over to SO53 at the end of the mission after the
third lift. He was aware that there were four bags
initially when he crossed the line to where the PW
were at the PUP.®°

6.31 When searched by the BF, the PW were
found to have weapons and identifications on them,
which had not been found by the Australians.

8 |bid, p.80
79 3038, IFI 17/5/18 p.64
% Ibid, pp.64-65
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Non-compliant PW*’

6.32  The PW were initially boarded onto Lifter 2 in
pairs, with one crew member acting as the PW
handler and the second acting as cover guard. Later
PW were boarded by one guard only, without a
cover guard.®

S0O44

6.33 S044 escorted a PW to the aircraft, who
became non-compliant. His evidence was as
follows:

“On the night in question ... it was kinetic and
very fast, we had a lot of time constraint. So
the set procedures for a two-man op on a
POW initially happened and then because of
how fast it was — basically it was one guy per
POW. The prisoner that | had, as we got close
to the aircraft, the back of the aircraft, he
Started to flail his arms around because his
hands were free ... | held him by the back of
the sandbag and by the scruff of his jacket ...
And | had my rifle pointed and escorted him
on to the aircraft ...

... Initially he was compliant. You know, he
was doing everything that you would expect
the POW to do. And then when his hands got

8 A diagram of the positioning of the BF and PW on board Lifter 2,
based on the available evidence, is at Annex B.
8285039, IFI1 16/5/18 p.72
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THE DEATH

free — and it was actually when we got close
to the down wash and the heat of the aircrafft,
he hands came free. So | know he had a short
distance to get him to the aircraft. At that point
| slung my rifle behind me and got another
hand on him, and tried to push him on to the
aircraft, you know. So we’re basically
breaking into a jog and | used my body
momentum and my weight to get him on to
the aircraft. Once inside the aircraft the
nearest colleague to me at the time was
S0O38. So I give him — | say in my statement |
shouted. | may have shouted, but it’s all eye
signals and hand signals just to give him the
nod. He comes over straight away. | give this
guy a gentle kick to the back of the legs to get
him to the floor ... It’s just following that
momentum. You Know, we’ve got him on the
aircraft. We’re still moving forward. I've given
SO38 the nod that there’s a drama, we need
to get this drama squared away. So as | turn
the POW to lay him down, just gently kick the
back of his legs, buckles his knees, and then
SO38 assists me by making sure that he’s
laid on the floor appropriately.’™?

When he and SO38 had succeeded in getting

the PW down on the floor, he continued resisting.

8 3044, IFI 16/5/18 pp.85-88

61



The Iraq Fatality Investigations

S044 was trying to restrain the PW and SO38
assisted by trying to re-cuff the PW behind his back.
The PW was still bagged at the time.®*

6.35  After a short period of time, the PW tried to
get up again by arching his back and pushing
upwards. SO38 used his weight to push the PW
back down to the ground and finished securing the
plasticuffs.®°

6.36  When the PW was back under control, SO58
took over guarding him from SO44. SO44 is clear
that the PW was still moving at this point, although
he was not struggling as energetically as before.
S044 remained right next to the PW for the return
journey in his role as cover man. During the return
journey, the PW remained compliant, meaning that
there was “no more drama”.®®

6.37 He was not able to recall whether this PW
was the last one on the ramp, however his evidence
supports that he was one of the last.®’

SO38

6.38  S0O38 gave evidence that the PW S0O44
brought onto the aircraft was causing trouble on the
ramp.®® He described the PW as a stocky man, and

8 |bid, p.89

% S044 IFI MOD-83-0000553-A, paragraph 19
% 5044 IFI 16/5/18 p.91

87 1bid, pp.88-89

8 SO38 IFI, 17/5/18 p.54
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S0O44 was not able to control him alone. The PW’s
arms had come free and he was flailing them
around. His hood was hanging off the back of his
head and had come free, and he was kicking and
punching out. SO38 considered him to be a threat
to the aircraft.®® He stated:

“l swept his feet from underneath him. |
grabbed him by the back of the neck and the
middle of the back ... it was a dishdash they
were wearing. So | had hold of his material,
the back of the neck and | put him to the floor
... the counterbalance was already going
forward and | had come from the position of
behind.

And when | got him to the floor, sir, and put
him in an arm lock, which is a goose neck ...
and kept him there until we tried to put the
handcuffs on him. He landed on his side. |
rolled him on to his front and then | put his
arm up the middle of his back and held him in
a goose neck while | tried to get assistance to
put the plasticuffs on.™°

6.39  He recalled that the AAF had brought two PW
to the aircraft and left them there on their own.

8 |bid p.55
0 |bid p.56
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Thereupon an incident developed with another PW
being escorted by SO44 who had to be restrained,
but it was all happening in difficult conditions and
very fast. He managed to get SO66 to guard the two
PW he had escorted onto the aircraft and turned his
attention to the PW who was causing trouble.®’ He
clarified that he did not call for assistance, but that
people came and assisted him and that he got the
PW to the floor of the aircraft.®> SO38 did not at that
point place handcuffs on the PW, but he was under
control and SO38 was able to put SO58 with the
PW. SO58 sat on the PW to keep him under control,
although SO38 was not able to recall precisely on
what part of the PW’s body he was sitting.®® At this
point, the PW continued to move in a manner that
demonstrated some resistance. SO38 stated:

“I put them both down robustly because |
needed to ... for the safety of the chopper ... |
didn’t actually think before | got hold of the
person: what force am | going to use? ... |
thought: you are stopping what you are doing
and you are not going any further, and that
person was put under control, both people
were put under control.™*

9 Ibid p.53
%2 |bid p.53
% |bid pp.61-62
% |bid p.72
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S038 continued to check on this PW in-flight, and
found him to be still moving around but
compliant.®

6.40  SO38 also gave evidence as to another PW
who got “loose, stood up and was put back on to the
ground” after take-off.”® Somebody put a bag back
on one of the two PW who had been non-compliant,

but this was not taped and was just a bag placed
over the head.”’

SO43

6.41 S043 was a member of the aircrew and was
the Loadmaster on Lifter 2, tasked with controlling
the loading ramp at the rear of the aircraft. His
evidence was that, during the process of loading the
PW, there was a PW who caused a problem but that
he was supressed without the use of violence:

“... one of the prisoners as he got to the
aircraft ... started to become uncooperative
and | believe he may have flailed his arms
around and had got out. There was a small |
would call it scuffle where people were trying
to control the individual, the two guards who
were with him. And at that point he was firmly

% |bid p.62
% |bid p.63
9 |bid p.73
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6.42

gripped by two of the individuals and with — as
| described, with enough force to make sure
he was taken off his feet and put on the floor.
But again in my statement | say that having
had experience of this before, prisoner
handling fights, | did not terms that as a
violent action. There was intent but not
violence.

That prisoner then laid down and | cannot
remember how he was controlled, but he then
became slightly compliant.”™?

Following this, the loading process continued

for approximately 10 to 15 minutes. When all the
PW had been put onto the aircraft, SO43 noticed
that one of the prisoners’ legs was near the ramp
and that he was at risk of injury if the ramp was
brought up. He caused the PW to be physically
moved by the ARF members out of the way.”® He
was sure that he witnessed nothing he considered
to be violence, and that he would have intervened
had he seen what he considered to be excessive
force.™

6.43

SO57’s evidence was that the second time he

was handling a PW up the ramp to the aircraft he
saw something out of the corner of his eye:

% 5043 IFI 17/5/18 p.114
% |bid pp.114-115
100 |hid p.114
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6.44

“... It was for no more than one second, two
second ... a kerfuffle — but a commotion at the
ramp and it was obviously a struggle of some
kind on the right-hand side. And literally it was
a second, two seconds, nho more, and then
obviously carried on moving the prisoner
forward into the aircraft.

... I didn’t obviously see any of the events that
led up to it ... | think obviously what was
happening they were trying to restrain him
and | did see — | think | put in my statement
that punches. But they weren’t punches, they
were sort of slaps ... It wouldn’t be a punch as
in, no, a boxer would do. It was a slap ... that
would fit in with trying to sort of grab belts or
something to pull someone down.”°’

When asked about the area of the PW’s body

to which force was applied, he answered that it was
to the back, lower down.%?

SO58

6.45

S0O58 was tasked to guard a PW that had

been subdued by another member of the ARF.™®

11 3057 IFI 17/5/18 p.99
102 |hid p.100
102 3058 IFI 16/5/18 p.112
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He was aware of something going on with one of
the PWs during loading and that one of the PWs
needed to be subdued, but he did not remember
who it was that subdued him. He stated to me:

6.46

“... it would have just been tasked to look
after that individual ... | didn’t sit on that
individual ... | knelt beside him, to the rear of
him, having my hands on the back of his legs.
My left knee and my right knee were either
side of his legs with his legs in between. So |
wasn't actually sat on that individual. | was
basically astrided over the top of him”."*

His evidence was that the PW:

“‘was wriggling aggressively to start off with,
I’d say within the first couple of minutes. |
gave him one chop. He still carried on
wriggling. So | gave him two chops as
detailed. So one still not compliant, then two.
And then he stopped wriggling. So | just
tapped him on the back of the leg.”%®

SO58 clarified that he chopped the PW on the
calf. The PW settled approximately half way into
the journey.

6.47

His oral evidence continued:

104 |bid pp.112-113
105 |bid p.112
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“I've got hold of his feet/calf. I'm lent over him
beside, my legs left and right. So I’'m basically
leaning down to his feet/top lower part of his
calfs and he’s still trying to kick out at that
point. But that was possibly within the first sort
of minute or two of actually being in control of
that individual.”%°

6.48  His evidence was that the PW was hooded
and cuffed when he was guarding him.™’

PW with Prosthetic Limbs

6.49  The evidence of SO40 is that the PW he was
guarding had prosthetic limbs that came off during
the course of the flight. Not long after taking off, the
PW was wriggling and tried to get out of his
plasticuffs. SO40 moved to sit on him, and noticed
his legs had come off. SO40 then moved the PW'’s
legs out of the way. He recalls attempting to re-cuff
the PW with the assistance of SO56, but is unable
to remember whether he succeeded.'®

6.50  S0O56’s evidence was that the he and SO40
were struggling to get the PW to lie flat, but
eventually did by just pulling his legs. At that point,

1% |bid p.113
19 |bid p.113
19 5S040 IFI 16/5/18 pp.18-19
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the PW's legs were removed from his torso as a
result of this struggle and it became apparent that
they were prosthetics. The legs were put to one
side.'™

6.51 Various witnesses recall a moment of black
humour at the point that the PW'’s legs came off.
S043 confirmed that there was moment of
amusement when this took place, and that he was
made aware of the incident via intercom from the
Aircrewman stationed at the front of the ac.’ SO40
also gave evidence of a moment of comedy,
although confirmed in his evidence to me that this
may have been more of a laugh to himself.""

Unresponsive PW during the Landing
Process

6.52  S058’s evidence was that he noticed the PW
he was guarding stopped moving and that he wasn't
able to feel a pulse about two minutes prior to
landing. He noticed that the PW'’s wrists were quite
puffed up and that the plasticuffs were tight.'"

6.53  SO58 clearly recalls checking the PW’s wrists
for a pulse, but got no reading. However, since the
PW was wearing plasticuffs, SO58 was unsure
whether this was just do to the restriction of the

19 SO56 IFI 17/5/18 p.91

110 3043 30 July 2003; SO43 IFI 17/5/18 p.116
111 3040 IFI 16/5/19 pp.26-27

112 3058 IFI 16/5/19 pp.117 — 118
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plasticuffs. He tried a couple of times to find a pulse,
but due to the motion of the Chinook it was easy to
mistakenly find the pulse in his thumb. He is unsure
whether it was himself or SO44 who checked the
carotid artery, but thinks that he put his hand
underneath the sandbag to try and locate a carotid
pulse.’™

6.54  His evidence was that he was about to alert
S0O39 and that he tried to shout out to him, but they
were told to prep for landing so he told the gunner
to his right who he believed to be either SO44 or
S0O66. He was just about to start first aid, but at that
point the wheels came down ready for landing
rendering conditions inappropriate for first aid. He
knew they would be landing in an area with a first
aid post, and he considered that handing over to
forces on the ground would be more appropriate.
He confirmed that he did not go into CPR.""*

6.55 SO58 clarified in his oral evidence that he
was only a basic first aider, and that he had not
done a combat first aid medic course at the time of
the mission.'™ SO44 gave evidence that both

113 |bid p.118
114 |bid p.118
115 |bid p.117
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himself and SO58 were combat medics at the time,
and that training involved a week-long course.'®

6.56

Although he was unable to recall the matters

stated during the course of oral evidence, SO44
confirmed his earlier evidence regarding a
conversation with SO58 as follows:

6.57

“... It was a thought that the PoW could have
suffered a heart attack or shock ... We were
considering also the fact that most of the
PoWs were moving to get comfy all the time
but this guy had only moved about two or
three times since he had been subdued. We
wondered if his pulse was racing or weak;
racing, shock, weak being a heart attack.
SO58 felt for the pulse in his wrist but he
couldn’t find one. He tried two or three times
but to no avail. | then tried once at the carotid
artery pressure point but none was
detected.””

When asked about whether he thought the

PW was dead, SO58’s evidence was that this was
the worst-case outcome that was at the back of his
head, but that this was not 100 per cent guaranteed.
He thought it more likely that the PW was
unconscious.''®

116 3044 IF1 16/5/18 p.94
117 |bid p.96: SO44 IFI MOD-83-0000553-A, paragraph 22
118 |bid p.121
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Arrival at H1 and Unloading PW

6.586  Upon landing at H1, the PW were to be
unloaded from the aircraft by the gunners who had
been guarding them during the flight. During this
unloading process, three PW could not be walked
off the aircraft. Among them was the PW who had
lost his prosthetic limbs during the flight.

6.59  There are differing accounts of removing the
PW from the aircraft that cannot be easily
reconciled. Variations in the evidence emerge as to
the number and positioning of unconscious /
unresponsive PWs, who removed them and how.
S058, SO50, SO40, SO56, SO57 and SO41 are
among the witnesses who claim to have removed
an unresponsive PW from the aircraft upon arrival at
H1.

SO39

6.60  On landing back at H1, the SMU LO radioed
S0O39 and told him to quickly offload the PW and
move to a refuel point. SO39 was the first to
disembark the aircraft, but was concerned about
leaving the PW unattended on the airfield so went to
speak to SO55 and the LO at the rear of Lifter 1.'"°

As he did so, he saw the USAF approaching the

9°S039 IFI 16/5/18 p.131
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aircraft and ordered his men via PRR to begin
unloading.'®®

6.61 He first became aware via PRR that two PWs
were unresponsive as he was returning to Lifter 2,
and clarified that unresponsive meant that they
weren’t moving. SO39 gave orders to the effect of
“get anybody who is walking off for a handover and
then straight back for anybody who is
unresponsive”. He did not know if they were
unresponsive or uncooperative, and could not recall
whether he was told that no pulse could be found on
the prisoner.

6.62  His evidence was that he then met with an
American captain and gave him an overview of what
he believed to be going on. He told him he had 10
PWs, that he had been told two were unresponsive.
He said he didn’t know what was wrong and why,
and “at that point I think | threw in the “heart attack”
words. | said, “I don’t know whether they’ve had a
heart attack or what”. Nobody had suggested to
him that this had happened, but he thought “/ don't
know what’s wrong. We haven’t got time to do first
aid but they may have had a heart attack.” In
response, the American Captain said “Do not worry
about that, man ... You’ve got to get back out of
here. Just hand them over to me”.'?' Later, the

120 |hid p.132
21 |hid p.132-133
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American Captain confirmed that the two PW should
be put in the back of a Humvee.'??

6.63 SO39 realised there would be an issue of
man-power given that more men would be needed
to remove these PW from the ac. One of the men
had taken it upon himself to start dragging the PWs
closer to the vehicles, and SO39 thinks that two
men he galvanised to help took over from him.#*

6.64  After these PWs were removed, the PW with
no legs was taken off the aircraft. SO39 recalls him
being the last off the aircraft as he was not a
priority.'#*

SO53

6.65 S053’s evidence was that, upon landing back
at H1, he exited Lifter 1 to liaise with the American
Commander to organise the offload. At this point, he
handed over the property he had been given by the
AAF at the PUP, and was given a written receipt for
the property by the American Commander:

“There was an altercation of some kind going
on at the back of Heli 2. There didn’t seem to
be any movement at the back of Heli 2 and |

was trying to find out what was going on. |

122 |hid p.133
123 |hid p.133
124 |hid p.134
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was told that they thought someone had died.
| recall saying ‘he’s either dead or not dead’,
and | wanted to find out which it was as if he
was dead then we needed to move him
across to the Americans, who were only about
50 or 60m away. Someone told me that he
was dead and that he had possibly had a
heart attack. All | was interested in was
getting a group of men moved from one point
to another, and | wanted a straight answer as
to whether we had to move a dead body over
to the Americans.
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| cannot now recall who it was who told me
that the individual was dead, but | am almost
certain that it was not the ARF Flight
Commander who was on Heli 1. | recall that it
was an ARF guy. | know that it was someone
on Heli 2, but | cannot recall whether it was
the ARF Sgt, who was in charge of Heli 2, or

someone else who had been on board Heli
2 7125

6.66  SO53 recalls saying to the ARF Flight
Commander, who he confirmed was SO39, “What’s
going on? What’s the delay? We need to get going”
and being informed there had been a drama. He
was told that someone’s legs had fallen off, and
informed about another prisoner “we think he’s
dead”. His evidence was that “/ remember saying,
well, you know, “Is he dead or is he alive” ... I'm
pretty sure ... it was at the rear of the ... helicopter’.
The answer he received was “He’s dead” or “we
think he’s dead”.'°

6.67  Upon being informed this, SO53 went to the
American Commander and asked for a vehicle to go
and collect a PW who's legs had fallen off and a

125 83053 IFI 15/5/18 pp.47 — 54; SO53 IFI MOD-83-0000586-A,
paragraph 9
126 1bid p.50
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potentially deceased prisoner.'?’ He was “pretty

sure” he would have informed the American
Commander that someone was dead.'?

6.68  No other withesses gave evidence that they
were asked about whether a PW was dead or not by
S053, or informing SO53 that the PW was dead.

6.69 S0O53’s evidence continues:

‘I was making split second decisions and here
| had a situation where someone had died,
there was a dead body that had to be moved
from the back of Heli 2 with the remaining
PWs and we also had to deal with the
remaining PWSs. | asked for a vehicle to be
sent across to pick up the dead man and
transport him about 50m-60m to where the
Americans were.”'?°

6.70 S0O53 was not aware that there were two
motionless PW handed over to the Americans. He
had only been aware of the dead man.

SO58

6.71 The evidence of SO58 is that he first took one
PW over to the holding area, and then returned to
the aircraft. He and SO41 then carried an

127 |bid p.53
128 |bid p.54
129 MOD-83-0000586-A SO53 IF| paragraph 13
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unresponsive PW who was the third person in from
the ramp off the aircraft and took him to hand him
over to the ground forces.™® He describes taking
control of his legs and recalls tripping as he left the
aircraft and momentarily dropping the PW.™' SO58
believed the PW was loaded into a Humvee, but no
longer recalls whether this was the case or whether
others assisted with the loading. His evidence was
that: “it was a quick turnaround. So it was get this
person off, get back on, making sure that no one
was left on the ground, ready to do the second
collection of the PWs”."%

SO41

6.72  S0O41 became aware of two unconscious PW
lying on the deck upon landing at H1. He was told a
vehicle was coming, and he may have been
informed that this was a medical support vehicle.'*®
When asked about what he believed the problem to
be with the motionless PW, SO41 stated that he
believed they were faking in order to be
obstructive.™* He was tasked with helping to move
one of the PW from the aircraft to a Humvee when it

130 5058 IFI 16/5/18 p.120

131 SO58 18 Aug 03

132 |phid p.122

133 3041 8 Dec 2003

1348041 IF1 17/5/18 p.133. See also p.135
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arrived. His evidence was that he went up to the
American at the vehicle and asked: “Where do you
want him?”, to which he replied: “put him in the back
of a Humvee”. To SO41’s mind, the PW was now
the USAF’s responsibility.'s°

S040

6.73  S040’s evidence was that, upon landing back
at H1, he initially removed the PW from the aircraft
who had lost his artificial legs before returning to the
aircraft.’® On return to the aircraft, SO39 motioned
him to him to go the rear of the aircraft where there
was a motionless PW and tasked him to remove the
PW from the aircraft.’”®” The PW was lying on the
port-side of the aircraft, positioned longitudinally.
The PW didn’t respond to speaking or shaking
stimuli, or to being moved to the edge of the
ramp.'s®

6.74  S040’s evidence on moving the PW of the
aircraft is as follows:

“I think | may have moved him initially by
pulling him by the hands to get him into a
position where | could pick him up from the
floor of the aircraft but was unable to do so ...
It being clear to me that | couldn’t lift the

135 |bid pp.133-134

136 5040 IFI 16/5/18 p.23

137 3040 IFI MOD-83-0000564-A, paragraphs 30-31

138 |hid 30-31. See also: SO40 IFI 16/5/18 pp.23-26; p.31
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unresponsive PW and carry him off the aircraft
as | did ... with the limbless PW, | decided to
drag him towards the end of the loading ramp
... I hoped that if | could get the PW to there
and into a sitting position | would be in a better
position to get a good hold on him.

| was just about to carry him 20 meters or so
until clear of the rotor area where | put him
down beside an American Humvee vehicle
that was parked there. Somebody else,
possibly [SO57] took over at that point.”>°

6.75  S040 elaborated in his oral evidence that he
initially dragged the PW by his hands to get him into
a better position, before dragging him by his feet or
lower legs. As the ramp was down on the Chinook,
there was a bit of a slope so he could get better
leverage to pick the PW onto his shoulders and
move him to a safer area. SO40 moved the PW
alone, without assistance.’ His evidence changed
in that his oral account recalled taking the PW out of
the rotor risk area, where the PW was taken off him
by two other people.’*' He confirmed that the PW

was unresponsive when he picked him up, and that

1398040 IFI MOD-83-0000564-A, paragraphs 24 — 27
1405040 IFI 16/5/18 p.31-39
41 |bid p.38
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he did not examine the PW as this was not the
environment to do so.

SO50

6.76  SO50’s evidence was that he was tasked to
remove at least one PW from the aircraft by either
S0O39 or SO55, and load him into an American
Humvee.** He believed he did so with the
assistance of at least one other gunner, although he
can no longer recall who it was. No assistance was
given by an American soldier, who opened the boot
of the Humvee so the PW could be loaded.'*

6.77  The first PW loaded took considerable effort
to get over the tail gate. SO50 and the others
helping him laid the PW’s body inside the vehicle
width-ways, such that his lower legs and upper body
were outside the vehicle. The second PW was
smaller and easier to move. They lifted him so he
sat at the edge of the tail gate, and he fell
backwards over the first PW. He corroborated the
description of SO40 that there was a bang while
loading this second PW into the vehicle, that he
presumed was the PW’s head striking some part of
the vehicle.'*

42 See also SO50 IFI 17/5/18 pp.138-143
1438050 18 Aug 2003
44 1bid p.139; SO50 IFI MOD-83-0000566-A, paragraph 21
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6.78  Although SO50 disliked having to load the two
PW into what he considered to be a “patently
unsuitable form of transport”, he had no real choice
in the matter having been given his orders.'®

SO57

6.79  SO57 recalls initially unloading his PW from
the aircraft upon landing at H1, and having to
manoeuvre this prisoner around a PW slumped on
the floor under SO39’s direction. He recalled that
two PW were lying curled up on the port side of the
aircraft near the tail end of the fuselage.'*°

6.80  He recalled seeing SO50 carrying one of the
PW, who had prosthetic limbs, off the aircraft with
the assistance of SO56. As he returned to the
aircraft, SO39 handed him the PW'’s prosthetic legs
and he ran back to deliver them.#’

6.81 S0O57 was subsequently tasked to load two
unresponsive PWs into an American Humvee
vehicle, in company with SO50.'“® His evidence was
that he never checked any vital signs to see if the
PWs were totally unresponsive. One of these two
PW was a very heavy man, and one or two of the

%5 |bid. paragraph 19

146 5057 IF1 17/5/18 pp. 103-104
%7 bid p.104

148 |bid p.104
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Americans had to help lift him into the vehicle. His
evidence was as follows:

“He wasn’t dropped in but — | mean, again,
you have to understand where we were. The
tailgate probably comes up to near enough
your chest. So trying to lift someone heavy
with, you know, a degree of delicacy is very
difficult. So we just tried to do the best we
could to try and, you know, pop him in. But |
think he did slip a little bit. But he certainly
wasn’t dropped in.”'*°

6.82 SO57 confirmed that the PW did hit his head
a little bit as he went in. When asked whether this
caused him to wince, SO57 confirmed that it did.
The second PW loaded into the aircraft was easier,
as he was lighter.”® In SO57’s view, the Humvee
was not the most ideal transportation for the job.

The Gunners just tried the best they could to lift the
PW in.™

SO56

6.83  SO56 recalled seeing an unresponsive PW
towards the rear of the tailgate while leaving the
aircraft with a PW, and that other gunners were

%9 1bid pp.104-106; see also SO50 IFI MOD-83-0000566-A,
paragraph 23
%0 |bid p.106
1 Ibid p.105
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around him although he is no longer able to
remember who.'*? His evidence recalls SO39 and
S040 being in the vicinity at the back of the tailgate
and dragging a PW face-down by the arms off the
aircraft.”*® The PW looked floppy and unresponsive
as he was being dragged.'™*

SO43

6.84  S043 was not himself involved in the
unloading of PW from the aircraft, but as the
loadmaster he was well-positioned to witness
events.'*® His evidence was that the first two
prisoners closest to the ramp were led off the
aircraft, but the third along was not moving. A small
amount of cajoling was used to try and pick him up,
but he would not move so was left. The next
prisoner along also would not get up, but from there
on the other PWs were cooperative and got up.'™°

6.85  As the PW were being unloaded, SO43 and
two other individuals, one of whom was S0O40, were
left on the aircraft with a PW who appeared to be
unresponsive. SO43 shone his torch on the PW,
who seemed unresponsive. Initially, SO43

1528056 IF1 17/5/18 p.85; 90
153 |bid pp.93-94

154 S056 24 June 2003
1558043 IF1 17/5/18 p.110
¢ |bid p.118
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considered that the PW may be trying passive
resistance, and at no point did he make an
assumption that the individual was dead. But
equally, there was a range of medical problems that
the PW could have had. SO43'’s evidence was that
he could not recall anyone doing CPR or formal first
aid.’®’

7 |bid p.119
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6.86 It was decided that the limbless PW ought to
be moved from the aircraft and was piggybacked off
by SO40.'® Several gunners were involved in
picking up one of the unresponsive PW, who was a
larger individual, and taking him out to the Humvee.
To get him in the vehicle, they had to lift him onto
the tailgate.™

End of Mission

6.87  After the PW were unloaded at H1, the
chinooks returned to the PUP to conduct two further
lifts. These were conducted without incident and
went more smoothly than the first lift.

6.88  Upon return to H1 following the third and final
lift, there was a hot debrief before the men went to
bed. Accounts as to what was discussed in this
debrief, and if and the extent to which the
unresponsive PWs were discussed, are
inconsistent.

6.89  S039’'s evidence was that the debrief was
held by SO53 in a tented area on the base at H1,
and that he and SO55 would have contributed.'
His recollection is that he was made aware during
this hot debrief that SO38 had assisted in regaining

158 |bid p.120
159 |bid pp.120-122
1% 3039 IFI 16/5/18 p.135
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control of the PW, although he was not at the
debrief made aware that the PW had died. "

6.90  This is echoed by SO38, who gave evidence
that the men were congratulated for doing a good
job during the hot debrief, and it was only the
following morning that he learned that there had
been a death when he visited the American facility
at around 6am with SO55 and others.'®

6.91  The evidence of SO53 diverges from this. He
recalls the debrief included the following: “I learned
that the dead PW had managed to get to his feet
and had been thrashing around, during which the
man had been put down in a controlled fashion and
secured. It was also mentioned that there was
apparently a pool of urine around this [PW]".®° His
evidence to the Investigation is as follows:

“I heard that there’d been a bit of a scuffle in
Heli 2 and that the dead man had been
thrashing around. | didn’t hear any allegation
that he’'d been beaten to death: | put it down
to fear ... Essentially, | accepted that he’d
been frightened to death.”°*

161 S039 9 July 2013

2. 53038 IFI 17/5/18 p.75; SO38 IFI MOD-83-0000568-A, paragraph
26

1% S0O53 18 Nov 2003 p.3

14 SO53 IFI MOD-83-0000586-A, paragraph 11
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6.92 | take his use of the words “dead PW’ to be
descriptive and not evidence that the death of the
PW was referred to at the debrief.

Other Accounts of Violence

Account of violence from Lifter 1 aircrew

6.93  Evidence was taken by Op RAKER from the
aircrew and ARF members aboard Lifter 1, that
included suggestions of excessive treatment of PW.
This included evidence that PWs were kicked and
were handled in a manner that was “not
professional’.

6.94 | have reviewed this evidence. | do not
consider that it points towards a finding of systemic
violence and therefore | do not consider it assists
my investigation into the circumstances of the death
of a PW aboard Lifter 2.

Anonymous phone call

6.95 As noted earlier in this report, the RAF P&SS
Investigation into the death of Mr. Mahmud was
triggered by an anonymous phone call received into
RAF Marham on 2 June 2003. The caller alleged
that three named members of || Sgn had unlawfully
killed a PW being transported by Chinook and that
the incident was subsequently covered up. The note
taken of the phone call records that:
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“... On the way back one of the prisoners tried
to escape and a scuffle broke out. Once the
prisoner was back under control he was
continually beaten and ended up dead. During
the assault those carrying it out were laughing
... The dead POW was buried in the desert
and the incident covered up by saying that he
had choked on the sandbag. There was no
Post Mortem.”

6.96  Attempts to ascertain the identity of the caller
have failed.

6.97  There is little evidence about any injury
sustained by the deceased. He is reported to have
had a bloody nose and the photo of the upper part
of his body'® clearly shows that to be the case.'®®
However in the absence of a thorough examination
of him for injury there is no evidence indicating he
had been subject to a sustained beating. A brief
medical examination of his upper torso did not
disclose any bodily injury. In the circumstances
there is nothing which can be taken to corroborate
allegations of serious external injury.'®” The fact that
the call was made cannot be totally ignored. It
points to at least one person, who had accurate
information about aspects of the mission, being
concerned about the degree of forceful restraint

1% Taken by the USAF, Annex A
%6 American Soldier E, 14 April 2003
87 American Soldier F, 13 April 2003
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which was employed. It points to the incident as
having given rise to a substantial disturbance and to
the witness holding an expectation that it was
sufficiently serious to need investigation. Thus the
belief that it had been ‘covered up’. Whoever made
the call acted responsibly. But for the call having
been made it can be assumed these matters would
not have been investigated. That said, | have not
been able to treat the broad allegations as providing
direct admissible evidence as to the cause of death.

Evidence about a conversation in ‘Bar 3’

6.98  Operation RAKER took the evidence of an
RAF Officer who responded to a ‘Defensive News
Brief’ circulated on 24 February 2004 requesting
information relating to the incident. The Officer was
prompted by this circulation to report an incident he
recalled took place at Bar 3 in Bury St Edmunds
about 3 months after the incident, on 19 July 2003.
The Officer impressed me as a reliable witness. He
was able, to my satisfaction, to identify SO38. His
account was that he had been in the bar with some
other officers, who also gave evidence to Op
RAKER, at the same time as some members of |l
Sqgn, including SO38. SO38 appeared drunk and
told a story of how he had intervened in a scuffle
with a PW on board a flight and broke his neck. |
consider it likely that SO38 did speak out in the
terms reported to me and that he was drunk. | put
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the occasion to SO38 but he denied it had
occurred. 8

6.99  The officer acted correctly and responsibly in
coming forward to report what he had heard and the
evidence could have advanced the inquiry had it not
been open to many possible interpretations
affecting its reliability. Had there been evidence that
the deceased had sustained a broken neck it might
have carried some weight. It might also have been
the case that there was something which pointed to
the possibility of a broken neck. A broken neck
might have been observed by someone handling
him or carrying out even a cursory examination of
him or by the USAF soldier who removed the
deceased’s hood. No such pointers have emerged.
The utterance has the ring of an extravagant boast.
S038 did play the leading role in restraining the PW
and he considered he had fulfilled an important role
In protecting his colleagues. He told me he had
hopes of being commended for his action but the
death of the PW had ensued to put an end to that
hope.'®® The incident had probably caused him
stress and tension and | have concluded that he
was likely to have been engaging in drunken bar
room exaggeration. When considering the option of
exhumation | paid some regard to whether traumatic

168 3038 IFI 17/5/18 pp.78-81
169 |bid, p.77
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damage to the neck might be revealed but, as |
have pointed out elsewhere, there were many

reasons why exhumation was not an appropriate
course.'’°

70 See sections 10.14 — 10.15
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SECTION 7: EVIDENCE IN CONNECTION
WITH THE REPORTING OF THE DEATH
AND THE COURSE OF THE DECISION-
MAKING THEREAFTER

/.1 The reporting trail is in part reflected in the
contemporaneous documents received by the
Investigation. Those documents (as relevant) are as
follows: 1"

a.Radio Log 21.10 (local time)
b.‘Incident Report’ 121645Z Apr 03
c.SITREP 122300Z Apr 03
d.'SO47 Report’, 12 Apr 03
e.'S0O52 Report’, 14 Apr 03

f. Letter enclosing SO52 Report, 15 Apr 03
(“SO61 Letter”)

Communications during the Mission

7.2 The two chinooks left H1 to commence the lift
mission at around 19.00hrs local time. The journey
time to the PUP took at least 20 minutes.

/.3 The evidence of SO52 is that communications
from the Lifters during the mission would have come
into the Ops Room and would have blared out of the

" These documents are exhibited at Annex C
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speakers. These communications would be
recorded in written Radio Logs.'”> SO59 gave
further detail as to the procedure followed in the
Ops Room for logging messages received. There
would be a Watchkeeper, responsible for monitoring
the operation and making a note of transmissions in
the log, and a Radio Log Operator. All
communications would be recorded in the Radio
Logs, and those messages that merited more
attention or further action would be transposed with
greater detail into the “Ops Log” by the
Watchkeeper or the Ops Warrant Officer based on
verbal conversations. There was a further network
system throughout the headquarters. Nearly all
communications, with the exception of written
SITREPSs, were verbal.'”®

7.4 The Ops Logs for the relevant period have not
been located,’* and unfortunately the recollection of
witnesses has faded. The HQ1 Middle East Radio
Log for the time-period covering the mission
contains multiple entries relating to the lift mission,
but only one entry recorded at 21.10 references the
PW incident.’” The entry appears to be a report
sent on return to H1 after the first lift, and reads:

72 3052 IFI MOD-83-0000587-A, paragraph 13

73 8059 IFI MOD-83-0000582-A, paragraphs 6 — 8
745061 IFI MOD-83-0000585-A

7> Although not stated, this appears to be local time.
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“C/S at H1, 15 POW DROPPED, 1 EN POW
HEART ATTACK, C/S refuel for next lift
RECIPTE chase once fuelled.”

7.5 There is no recorded communication back from
HQ1 Middle East in the Radio Log that concerns the
heart attack referenced in this report. The US
military certified death 16 minutes later than this
transmission at 21.26hrs.

7.6 SO53’s evidence was that he notified HQ1 Middle
East after the American Commander receiving the
PWs at H1 confirmed to him between the second
and third lifts that one of the PW from the first lift
was dead. He recalls doing so during the return
flight to the PUP for the third lift through one of the
two signallers on Lifter 1. His account is that the
information that a PW was dead was important
enough for him to report it up the chain of command
straight away, but he carried on with the task at
hand and it did not stop the mission. There is no
record of any transmission during the mission
reporting that a PW had died.

/.7 1t can be observed that there is a recorded stream
of communications covering the period up to the
commencement of the third and final lift at 00:04 on
12 April 2003, however the Logs record no
communications after 00:24 (until 09:00am later that
day). There is no recorded entry covering the
conclusion of the final lift and the return to H1. The
evidence of SO59 was that he was not surprised
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that the end of the mission was not recorded given
the context of the operation, as there was a lot
going on at the time including quite complex ground
operations with air support.’”®

Post-mission Reports from H1 to HQ1 Middle
East

7.8 A de-brief was conducted by SO53 and the ARF
members on conclusion of the mission.

7.9 S0583’s evidence was that he subsequently
contacted HQ1 Middle East by radio to “report on
the overall end state of the mission ... and the issue
of the dead PW”.""" SO55'’s evidence to Op RAKER,
confirmed to me, was that he “... went to the FOB
Command Post and reported my patrol in, but the
prisoner who was suspected to have been dead on
arrival was not mentioned”.’”® No record of an end
of mission report has been located.

7.10  SO53 stated that “later in the day” (on 12 Apr
03), he received a request from HQ1 Middle East to
“provide a written report on the mission.”’® His
evidence was that this initial report was responded

7% 3059 IFI MOD-83-0000582-A paragraph 9
778053 24 July 2003

78 3055, 20 August 2003

79 8053 24 July 2003
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to by a request for further details, following which he
submitted the Incident Report 1645Z.%°

7.11  The evidence of SO55 was that, on the
morning of 12 April 2003, he visited the USAF
facility at H1 and was asked during this visit for
“statements from everyone who had been on the
operation” by the US Investigating Officer. He states
that, on return: “/ spoke to [SO53] about this and |
believe the FOB Commander was also present.
Somebody spoke to [HQ1 Middle East]. In response
| was told (I believe by the FOB Cdr) that the US
officer was to be told that a report would be written
about the incident and that they should request a
copy through the chain of command ... [SO53] was
tasked to write a report of the incident”.'®

/.12  The Incident Report is expressed as a witness
statement from SO53 and signed by SO55.% It
states that, on returning to H1, “/ ... was informed
that 1x PW had potentially had a heart attack, |
asked how did he know this and his reply was he
was not moving on the a/c and would request veh
PV”. It continues: “At the point [the US Cmdr] was
aware of the two immovable pax” — the other being
the PW with no limbs. Curiously, this report also
states that “No med was called at H2 ... | did not
witness any medical vehs or personnel at the H1

180 bid.
81 SO55, 20 August 2003
82 Annex C(ii)
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HLS”. | am bound to say that the report lacks detail
and has all the appearances of being written in
haste. It could not have met the tenor of the request
of the USAF for information. That was provided by a
subsequent report from SO47.

SO47 Report

7.13  SO047’s evidence was that he was requested
to compile a report at around 20.00hrs on 12 Apr
03.'® There is evidence, reflected in the SO47
Report, that SO47 and SO52 spoke by satellite
phone on at least one occasion in the afternoon of
12 Apr prior to this Report being submitted. The
SO47 report opens:

“Thank you for taking the time to talk to me on
this PM and alleviate my fears that resulted
from the apparent ‘Salami Slicing’ of
information you required. You are now aware
that | would not wish, as discussed, for this
document to be used as a legal statement. If
formal Statements are required | would wish,
as a prudent precaution, to have legal
representation present with my men.
Therefore, as discussed, | would appreciate it
if you would refrain from forwarding this

18383047 12 April 2003; SO47 MOD-083-000580-A IFI paragraph 48
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document to higher formations without that
understanding”.'®*

7.14  In his evidence, SO47 confirms that he cannot
recall who he spoke to at HQ1 Middle East prior to
drafting and submitting this report, but it would have
been either SO52 or one of his deputies.' He does
not recall any specific direction from HQ1 Middle
East that witness statements from those involved be
taken or remember any discussion regarding the
legal status of the report he was asked to submit.'®°
He does not recall having concluded that it was
necessary for him to seek legal representation for
his men, nor does he remember any request being
made to further distribute his report.’®” He believes
that he was being asked to provide a factual record
of the incident based on information obtained from
those involved, so as to provide HQ1 Middle East
with a more complete understanding of the
incident.'®®

7.15  The evidence of SO59 is that it is normal
practice and standard military procedure for a
commander to take statements, and for a report to
be made that summarises those accounts to

8 Annex C(iv)

18583047 IFI MOD-083-000580-A paragraphs 48 — 49; MOD-083-
000574-A paragraph 3.1

'8 |bid, paragraph 3.2

'87 |bid, paragraphs 3.2 — 3.3

'8 |bid, paragraph 3.4
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present to their boss. Soldiers would not write
statements and give them straight to the CO. Any
request for statements from SO47 would have been
made by SO52. There would have been a
conversation between SO59 and SO47 in which
S0O59 would have suggested a course of action,
which SO59 would have reported to SO52, and a
subsequent conversation between SO52 and SO47
in which they came to agreement on the course of
action to be followed.*

7.16 SOb52 recalled that his direction to SO47 was
“to take statements from those involved to ascertain,
as best he could, what had occurred. He reported

this back to me in the [SO47 Report]...”."

7.17  SO55 also refers to a communication from
HQ1 Middle East, although he does not specify who
at HQ1 Middle East sent the request:

“At around 2000 hours (Local) I received a
request from [HQ1 Middle East] to clarify
some details required that were not included
in the initial report. In the absence of the LO
who had been re-tasked, I cleared the tent |
was in and together with [SO47] [SO39] and
[SO38] | compiled a response to answer the
remaining questions raised by the HQ. |

189 S0O59 IFI MOD-83-0000582-A, paragraphs 14-15
1% S052 IFI MOD-83-0000581-A, Q8
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received the request for further details via the
TACSAT. [SO47] completed typing the reply
at around 0100/0200 hours in the morning
and it was sent to the duty Ops Officer at
[HQ1 Middle East] (SO59). He reassured me
that there was no witch-hunt going on but that
the legal team were trying to cover all bases
by having all the information at their
disposal.”™®

7.18  Although SO47 was not able to recall what
was meant by the term “witch-hunt”, he may have
reassured SO55 about potential concerns he may
have had about being made a scape-goat for the
incident. He would have wanted to make clear that
SO55 was on operation, and needed to focus on the
task in hand.'®? SO55 confirmed in his evidence to
me that he understood the term “witch-hunt” to
mean a “malicious and prejudiced investigation, with
the intent of apportioning blame.”'*

7.19  S047’s evidence was that the Report was
submitted via HPW laptop at around 01.00-02.00hrs
local time on 13 Apr 03."%* The Report, which
appears at Annex C(iv) included the following
information (emphasis added):

191 8055, 20 Aug 2003

192 MOD-083-000574-A paragraph 3.6 — 3.8

193 5055 IFI MOD-83-0000584-A, para 5a
1948047 IFI MOD-083-000580-A, paragraph 52
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“In a/c PW handled to the floor by applying
pressure and weight. Handler then kneeled
beside / on top of the PW ... the second to
last PW refused to adopt the required position
despite two ARF personnel attempting to
control him. The linkman observed the
situation and took control of the PW. He was
forced to the floor of the ac. A member of the
ARF was then instructed to lean on the
subject PWs’ back to subdue him. The ARF
then attempted to move all PWs’ forward to
facilitate the closing of the ac ramp ... the
subject PW became violent and as he was
moved freed himself from the plasticuffs and
stood up, flailing his arms, striking out at ARF
personnel and attempting to move forward in
the ac ... the linkman swept the subject PWs’
legs away with his own foot, holding the PW
and lowered him to the floor. He then knelt on
the subject PWs’ back and re-cuffed him ... at
an unspecified time, the linkman observed a
large wet patch, which he assumed to be
urine around the subject PW ... On arrival at
H1 ... PWs 2 (subject PW) and 3 were not
compliant ... These men were found to be
unresponsive... The Chalk Comd of Heli 2
then informed the Chalk Comd of Heli 1 and
the ARF Comd that he suspected that PW's
2&3 were unconscious and may have
potentially suffered a heart attack ...The ARF
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Personnel guarding PW 2 & 3 placed them on
the US HUMVEE as directed by the US
Senior passenger and those ARF personnel
on Heli 2 quickly reboarded in order to
complete the mission” (emphasis added)

7.20  ltis not stated that a PW died (either during
the lift or upon handover), although for reasons that
are set out below, it is clear from the evidence that
this fact would have been known by the Chain of
Command by this time. SO355 stated that he had
been informed that one of the PW was dead on
arrival by the American Commander at the end of
the mission, and both he and SO38 had had the
death confirmed to them that morning when they
attended the USAF base.'®

Reports up the Chain of Command

/.21 There is very little documentation reflecting
notification to the chain of command during the
course of the mission or in its aftermath. However,
the evidence available supports that information
was being relayed during this period.

SITREP 1223002

/.22  The only contemporaneous record of any
instructions issued by the chain of command is

195 8055 IFI MOD-83-0000584-A, paragraphs 29 — 30
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reflected in the SITREP 122300Z."°° This SITREP
was sent from SO52 at HQ1 Middle East to HQ2
Middle East on 12 April at 23.00 Zulu time."™" The
incident with the PW is referred to briefly, as follows:

“Last night [redacted] moved a selection of
PWs from [redacted] to H1. During the move of
PWs died. [HQZ2 Middle East] has requested
Statements from all concerned iot submit a
report of the death to [USF]”.

/.23 ltis not clear from the evidence when this
request for statements and a report was made by
HQ2 Middle East (although it must have been
before 23.00 (Zulu time) on 12 April) and whether
this instruction was received by HQ1 Middle East
before or after SO47 was asked to provide a report.

S0O52 Report

7.24  The SO52 Report dated 14 Apr 03,'® was

sent from SO52 to HQ2 Middle East. The Report
broadly repeats the details provided in the SO47
Report, but the conclusion of the report goes further
than the SO47 Report in stating:

“It was later confirmed by [USAF] that one of
the two unconscious PWs had recovered and

1% Annex C(iii).
197 Zulu time is the same as GMT.
9% Annex c(iv).
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7.25

that one had died. Comment was also passed
on that the dead PW had a long scar from
abdomen to throat from what was presumed to
be previous surgery. It was suggested that the
PW may have died of a heart attack. [USAF]
procedures post PW transfer including details
of certification and recorded time of death are
not known”,

There has been no evidence suggesting that

anyone at HQ2 Middle East reverted to SO52
seeking further information or any clarification
relating to the incident.™®

7.26

It is known that the SO52 Report was sent to

PJHQ, SMU HQ London and the MOD from HQ2
Middle East on 15 Apr 03 under the cover of a letter
signed by SO61.2°° Paragraph 2 of this letter reads:

“There was no requirement formally to inform
PJHQ of the circumstances surrounding the
death, or the promulgation of a PW CASREP,
nor has an entry been made on F/PW/128.
This is because the PW was not certified
dead until he had been handed over the US
facilities. However, | have decided to inform
the chain of command to ensure that if there
are future investigations, we have the facts,

19 8052 IFI MOD-83-0000587-A, paragraph 24
200 Annex C(vi).
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as witnessed by those UK personnel involved,
which can be used as best evidence. | have
therefore enclosed the report from COS [HQ1
Middle East] which provides a full and frank
summary of the events.”

/.27  There is no evidence that any action was
taken based on the SO52 Report by the chain of
command. Paragraph 3 of the SO61 Letter
specifically requests that “the addressees seek my
approval before promulgating further”, and it would
appear that no such approval was sought. There is
no evidence that any action was taken at PJHQ,
SMU HQ London or the MOD until the anonymous
telephone call in June 2003 that triggered the Op
RAKER RAF Police Investigation. SO52’s account
is that he would have actioned any direction to
support a UK investigation had he been directed to
do so, but he did not receive any directions for
further action.*’

7.28  The evidence of SO52 is that he would have
known that the USAF chain of command were
investigating the incident and that the BF fully
supported that investigation by providing
consolidated statements and their most detailed
understanding in the form of the SO47 Report. He
was prepared to provide further assistance to that

201 5052 IFI MOD-83-0000587-A, paragraph 24. See also: SO52 IF|
MOD-83-0000581-A
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investigation had it been requested, but he was not
aware of receiving any subsequent requests for
information.

Witness Evidence Relating to Communication
up the Chain of Command

SO61

7.29 S061, a Colonel, was Component
Commander at HQ2 Middle East. His evidence was
that he was informed that the incident had occurred
at his morning briefing on 12 April 2003:

“l do recall being briefed on the mission to
collect the PWs from Australian forces and
transfer them to the Americans at H1. | cannot
recall whether this briefing took place before,
during or after the lift took pace, but it would
likely have been at the morning briefing on 12
April 2003. This was a briefing between the
Americans, Australians and ourselves, at
which all the operations that had taken place
the previous night would have been briefed ...
| clearly recall the Australians briefing that
they had intercepted a convoy, had recovered
a large amount of money, and that one of the
PWs had a prosthetic limb. | also recall being
briefed that one of the PWs was a high-value
target at this time.?%

22 5061 IFI MOD-83-0000585-A, paragraph 11
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7.30  His evidence to Op RAKER was that he
“caused one of my staff” — understood to be SO62 —
“to liaise with the PJHQ Legal Branch, via the PJHQ
[SMU] cell, and obtain legal advice to ensure that
they could address any potential legal issues arising
from the incident.””® Details regarding there being
two unconscious prisoners and the USAF approach

to the incident may not have been received by the
PJHQ SMU Cell.

7.31 His evidence was that he would have seen
the SITREP 122300Z, which would have gone to his
J3 Ops based in HQ2 Middle East. The J3 Ops
would have gone through the SITREP and would
have compiled a briefing for him in the morning. He
would then have compiled and sent a separate
SITREP to the SMU Cell at PJHQ in London. The
Investigation has not been able to trace this
document.?** SO54was in post as J3 Ops at the

time but has no recollection of events.

/.32 The tasking recorded in the SITREP is in part
reflected in SO61’s evidence:

203 5061 15 Aug 2003
204 See section 1.10
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‘Il was made aware during the course of the
[12 Apr O3F% that PJHQ had advised the
relevant Force Commander to compile a
written contemporaneous report on the issue,
a copy of which was forwarded to my
HQ...”2%

7.33  As noted above, the SO52 Report was sent
up the chain of command under the cover of a letter
signed by SO61 dated 15 April 2003. SO61’s
evidence was that he cannot recall drafting the letter
or seeing the enclosed report, but would have seen
both. The contents of the letter, and the second
paragraph in particular, would have been based on
legal advice and not his own opinion. The language
was certainly not something he would have written
himself. The letter would have been something he
drafted, or someone like SO62 drafted for him, that
had been dictated by lawyers. He is unsure what
was anticipated by way of “future investigations”, but
was not anticipating the investigations that have
followed. It is very possible he would have caused
S062 to pass information to PJHQ or that he would
have spoken to legal people in the NCC in HQ2
Middle East.?"’

205 This date is an inference based on the context of the witness
statement

206 5061 15 Aug 2003

2075061 IFI MOD-83-0000585-A, paragraphs 14 — 15
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7.34  S0O61 accepted that it was easy to say in
hindsight that an investigation should have been
ordered at the time, but that in the context in which
they were operating he was confident that whatever
was done to investigate was based on legal advice
received.”%® His evidence was that: “There would
have been no attempt to hide or cover the fact that
the incident took place.”?®®

SO62

7.35 S062's evidence was that he was tasked by
S061 to contact PJHQ to request legal advice from
PJHQ Legal Branch following a report of the
incident being received into HQ2 Middle East.?'® He
supported the account of SO61, and stated that he
telephoned the SMU Cell at PJHQ on SO61’s
instructions and spoke to SO63. He outlined the
information given to him by SO61 and asked that he
seek legal advice on the situation.?™

7.36  He had not seen the SO47 Report prior to
being shown it by the Investigation, and did not
recall sending this report to the SMU Cell at
PJHQ.?'? He also considered it unlikely that anyone

208 |bid. paragraph 14

209 |bid. paragraph 16

219 |bid. paragraph 11 — 12
211 |bid. paragraph 13

212 |bid, paragraph 8(c)
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else at HQ2 Middle East would have emailed the
SO47 Report to SO63.

.37 S062's evidence supports that the gist of
what was relayed back to him by SO63 was that he
had “seen legal and the advice from PJHQ was to
assume ops normal and to carry on with taskings”,
as stated by SOG63 in his evidence to the Op
RAKER investigation.?™ This summary of advice
was, in SO62’s view, standard military jargon that
he understood to mean that there was nothing
about the circumstances of the incident that
required at that time that those concerned should be
taken off their normal duties, as would have been
the case if a full-blown police investigation into the
incident was launched.?™

7.38  S062’s understanding of what a
contemporaneous note or contemporaneous report
would require is that this would be a narrative,
created in a timely fashion, setting out all the
relevant circumstances so that there would be a
record of the incident in the event that further
information about it were later to be required by the
USAF. He imagined this would be expected to be
compiled on the basis of accounts obtained from
those who had been involved in the incident, and
that this would be a full and frank summary of

213 |bid paragraph 16
214 |bid paragraphs 16 — 17
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events.?’> He would not expect any “statements”
required, as referred to in the SITREP, to be
anything more than individual accounts from those

involved in the incident, and would not expect these
to have a degree of formality.?'°

/.39  He believed that he would have seen the
122300Z SITREP when it came in, although could
no longer recall doing so, and that his
understanding of the relevant section of the SITREP
is that the SO52 Report would have been the report
referred to in the final sentence.?'”

7.40  The covering letter dated 15 April 2003 (the
S0O61 Letter), enclosing the SO52 Report, was
drafted by SO62. He believed that he was drawing
on information beyond that contained in the SO52
Report when drafting the letter, as it included details
that went beyond the contents of that Report. This
included the nationality of four of the PW and
information that the PW had not been certified dead
until after he had been handed over to members of
the US Forces. He clearly recollected asking PJHQ
for a form of words setting out the advice that he
had asked to be sought from the legal advisor to
ensure he drafted the letter for SO61 accurately. He
is sure that the wording of the second paragraph of

215 MOD-083-000570-A paragraph 3(b)
218 |bid paragraph 8(d)
217 MOD-083-000577-A paragraphs 8(b) and 20
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that letter was substantially based on the requested
form of words. The wording in that paragraph was,
in SO62’s view, clearly legal and references
procedures he believed he was unfamiliar with at
the time. The decision to nevertheless inform the
chain of command of the facts reflected a “safety-
first” approach that a lawyer would take.?'® His view
was that the wording of the cover letter closely
corresponded to CO1’s evidence as to the advice
she gave SO67 at the time.?'™

S063°°

7.41  SO063 gave evidence to Op RAKER to the
effect that he received a phone call from SO62
during the war phase of Op TELIC alerting him to an
incident that had recently occurred involving lraqi
PWs in transit in the back of a British Chinook. He
was subsequently emailed a copy of a report that he
believed to be written by OC Il Sgn RAF Reg (‘the
S047 Report’), the contents of which he discussed
with his legal advisor at PJHQ. He subsequently
called SO62 late in the evening and told him that
the legal advice was to “assume ops normal and to
carry on/proceed with their taskings”.*’

218 5062 IFI MOD-083-000577-A, paragraphs 21 — 24
219 |bid paragraph 25. CO1’s evidence is at section 7.50-7.51
220 | interviewed SO63 but decided not to take a witness statement

from him.
221 5063 12 Nov 2003
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7.42 It should be noted that | accept that the SO47
Report was not completed and submitted until the
early hours of 13 April 2003, which calls into
question the chronology advanced by SOG63.
Further, as supported by SO67’s evidence, it would
have been unlikely for the HQ1 Middle East to liaise
directly with PJHQ on such matters.>** There is no
other evidence to support that the SO47 Report was
received into PJHQ.

222 3064 |FI MOD-083-000578-A, paragraph 19
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SO64

7.43  S064’s evidence was that he recalls being
made aware by SOG63, his deputy, that he had
received a phone call from HQ2 Middle East during
the night shift on 11/12 April 2003 regarding
operations being conducted out of HQ1 Middle East
that concerned an individual PW becoming
unconscious during transit by BF in the western
desert, who subsequently died in USAF custody.??*
This information would likely have been supplied by
HQ1 Middle East to HQ2 Middle East as a “one-
liner”in a SITREP.??* This SITREP contained no
suggestion that the PW'’s death was due to
mistreatment, and the only issue apparent at the
time was that the cause of death was unknown.?°

/.44 It would have been usual practice for his team
to have seen “legal’ in relation to such issues, and
there was a night lawyer service available at PJHQ.
However SO64 had no direct recollection of whether
legal advisors were consulted by SO63 on this
occasion.?°

/.45  His evidence was that around 08.00hrs (BST),
he sought the advice of the senior lawyer at PJHQ,
CO1, based on the limited information he was then
aware of. This advice was sought informally, in a

223 3064 IFI MOD-083-000578-A, paragraph 16
224 |bid, paragraph 17
22> |bid, paragraph 17
226 |bid, paragraph 18
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one-to-one conversation that took place outside the
morning briefing at PJHQ. His first instinct in
seeking this advice was to “determine that any
necessary procedures arising ... from the PW'’s
unconsciousness that apparently occurred during
the course of a transit on a British forces helicopter
and his subsequent death in US custody, were
followed rather than any legalities to which the
Situation might give rise.” He was reasonably
confident that the multi-national nature of the
incident was conveyed to CO1. He continued: “/ was
also clear at this stage, based on the limited
information provided, that | did not consider there
was anything suspicious about the incident to
report.”??’

7.46  S064’s evidence was that CO1 gave advice
for “contemporaneous notes and statements to be
taken from those involved”. He supported the
account given by CO1 of the legal advice given at
this time and believed that, insofar as there was
variation between her account and his own, it was
not significant.>=®

/.47  He was unsure how this advice was conveyed
back to HQ2 Middle East. In light of that legal
advice, his responsibility, as he saw it at the time,
was to ensure that a report of the circumstances

227 |bid, paragraphs 20 — 21
228 |bid, paragraph 22
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was collated and considered by the relevant
authority in the chain of command which, in the first
instance, would have been HQ2 Middle East.??° Had
the incident been reported in the terms in which it
was subsequently alleged in the anonymous
telephone call, he would have accorded the incident
greater priority.>*°

7.48  S064 did not recall this incident being
discussed in subsequent briefings, however he
believed that there would have been subsequent
briefings about the matter.*

7.49  S064 accepted that the SO52 Report would
have been received into the SMU Cell at PJHQ
under SO61’s letter. Although he did not recall
seeing this Report, his evidence was that he
believed he would have done so and would have
been satisfied upon reading its contents that the
legal advice provided had been followed. He could
no longer recall whether this letter was shared more
widely within PJHQ or if a digest was briefed to the
Chain of Command.=*

CO1

7.50  CO1 was a senior legal advisor at PJHQ. She
stated that SO64 sought her advice about a

229 |bid, paragraphs 23; 28

230 |bid, paragraph 35

231 MOD-083-000571-A, paragraph 1.3
232 MOD-083-000578-A, paragraph 27
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prisoner who became unconscious during the
course of the ARF Flight. Although she was no
longer able to recall whether she was told at that
time that the prisoner had subsequently been
declared dead by a US medic, she did ask whether
the Component Command reported anything
suspicious about the death of the prisoner, to which
S0O64 replied “no”. As such, her advice was to keep
a ““contemporaneous note” to be held on the file in
the event that there was an investigation into the
cause of death of the prisoner”. She emphasised
that she was only told about one unconscious

prisoner at this time.>*°

7.51 CO1 was clear in her account that she
advised only to keep a “contemporaneous note”.
She did not advise that statements be taken. Her
explanation for this was that “she was not the SMU
adviser”.?** She also had no part in drafting the
cover letter from SO61 and did not provide any
further advice in relation to the matter until the
commencement of Op RAKER.?%°

7.52 | took evidence from another military legal
advisor stationed at PJHQ in Northwood at the time
of the incident. She worked on the floor of the

233 CO1 MOD-83-0000589-A; CO1 IFI MOD-83-0000588-A,
paragraphs 8 — 9

234 CO1 MOD-83-0000589-A

23> RQ IFI MOD-83-0000588-A, paragraph 10

119



The Iraq Fatality Investigations

Operations Control Room (‘Ops Room’), rather than
in the legal office. At a morning briefing, which
would have involved all desks based in the Ops
Room, she recalled someone (not SO64, but she
could no longer remember who) briefing about a
mission that involved a PW with a missing prosthetic
limb. She recalled people looking up during the
briefing, as this information was unusual.***
Although she could not be certain, she did not recall
it being mentioned in the briefing that another PW
was unconscious or dead.*’

Context at Time of Mission

/.53  Various witnesses to the Investigation have
emphasised the context in which the BF were
operating at the time of the mission. The BF were
working in coalition with multi-national forces, and
the operation took place at a high-tempo period of
the fighting phase of Op TELIC.

7.54  The evidence of SO52 emphasises that this
was an intense period of operations, with forces in
regular contact with hostile forces, complex and
dangerous air and aviation operations being
planned and conducted on a daily and nightly basis
deep in enemy territory, influenced through multiple
levels of command with complex multi-national co-
operation and co-ordination. All headquarters had

236 MOD-083-000575-A, paragraphs 12 — 13
237 |bid, paragraph 14
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been running 24 hours a day for weeks, and staff
were fatigued and working to their own individual
and organisational capacities. His evidence was
that the short-notice “emergency” support to the
AAF in this mission should be seen in this context,
and not as a “routine” move.?*®

7.55  CO1 reiterated that this period, in which
British and coalition forces became an occupying
force, was frenetically busy and the burden on
PJHQ staff was exceptional.?®

Communication Channels

7.56  The Investigation has taken evidence about
the methods of communication between the various
bases and headquarters. This has assisted in efforts
to find records of communications that may have
been made at the time, and has provided important
context to understanding the response to the
incident by the chain of command.

7.57  The evidence of S052 outlines the multiple
channels of communication by which information
could come into HQ1 Middle East. He states the

following:

“The nature of multiple lines of
communications, divulging information at

2% S052 IFI MOD-83-0000581-A
2% CO1 IFI MOD-83-0000588-A, paragraph 6
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different rates, from different individuals, with
different viewpoints, all with different
commands (and accuracy) of the English
language and different levels of fatigue,
inevitably leads to inconsistencies in reporting
and a lack of clarity (‘the Fog of War’).
Looking at the operational reporting in
hindsight, including my own, it appears to
contain errors, inconsistencies and
inadequacies. This was in no way deliberate,
quite the opposite, this was the very best that
we could do at the time”.**°

240 8052 IFI MOD-83-0000581-A
122



SECTION 8: USAF FIELD INVESTIGATION AND ART.121
GC Il REPORT

SECTION 8: USAF FIELD INVESTIGATION
AND ART.121 GC Il REPORT

8.1 The USAF HQ at HQ1 Middle East were notified
of the death of Mr. Mahmud on 12 April 2003 and
commenced an investigation in accordance with
their obligations as the Detaining Power under Art
121 of GC IIl.**' | have obtained and reviewed
evidence relating to this Field Investigation and
concerning the involvement of BF in assisting
investigations that took place.

8.2 | have been provided with the certificate of death
for the PW identified by the USAF as “Tanik Sabri
Mahmud”, which records a time of death of 21.16
and the cause of death unknown.?*> The death was
certified by the USAF doctor, identified in the Op
RAKER investigation as US Soldier B.

8.3 The USAF took statements from USAF soldiers
who had contact with the PW, and | have seen this
evidence. | particularly note that a US soldier
identified as “US Soldier A" gave evidence on the
state of the PW prior to the certification of his death
as follows:

“Only wounds noted were a bloody nose...
due to recent bowl [sic] release and warm
body temperature, | determined the detainee

241 These obligations are set out further in section 9.
242 Annex D
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was deceased and awaited arrival of [the US
Forces] Doctor, [redacted] to make the official
pronouncement for a 112126Z April 03 time of
death.?*

8.4 The doctor who certified the death looked for
signs of life from Mr. Mahmud. He found no
heartbeat or sign of myocardial infarction, nor did he
find indications of cranial fracture or head or nose
trauma.?** Although the doctor was a licenced
medical doctor, he was not a pathologist and was
unqualified to perform a post-mortem. No post-
mortem was performed prior to the burial of Mr.
Mahmud, which was done in accordance with
Muslim traditions on 12 April 2003.2%

8.5 | have seen evidence that the USAF appointed an
Inspecting Officer (‘USIO’) on the day following the
PW’s death to investigate the death.>*® A Judge
Advocate General (‘'JAG’) Legal Advisor was also
appointed to provide legal advice to the USIO. It fell
to the Staff Judge Advocate (‘SJA’) based at the
American HQ at HQ1 Middle East, who held the
authority to convene a court martial, to consider and
advise on the prosecutorial obligations arising out of
the USIO'’s findings.

243 US Soldier A, 11 April 2003

244 US Soldier B, 16 April 2003

245> See further sections 9.8, 9.11, 10.3, 12.12 and 13.4

246 US Memorandum, ‘Investigation of detainee death’, 15 Apr 03
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8.6 The evidence supports that members of the ARF
crew, including SO55, SO38 and a Warrant Officer
who arrived at H1 on the day of the 12 April 2003,
visited the US facility at H1 during the day of 12
April 2003. SO55’s account to Op RAKER was as
follows:

“Later that day (12 Apr 03 as the mission had
taken place until the small hours) | visited the
US sector with a bag full of personal papers
etc that had been recovered from the aircraft
by the troops. | spoke to the Colonel in charge
of the facility and he confirmed to me that one
of the PWs from the mission had been dead
on arrival. He added that the collection of
prisoners included some high value targets for
the coalition. He told me that the body of the
dead prisoner had been buried at H1 and |
would be surprised if the grave is not marked.
He told me that the body had been buried first
thing that morning. | also had a conversation
with one of the US interrogators who had
been part of the reception party the night
before. He said that the guy pulled off the
aircraft (the dead PW) had been prepared for
a suicide mission, clarifying this by saying that
he had a shaved chest. He also stated that
the body had a scar on his chest that may
have been indicative of cardiac surgery.
Furthermore he mentioned that this person
was also linked in some way to the individual
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with no legs and that documents were found
offering $5000 for the head of any US
Serviceman. The interrogator also stated that
a good proportion of the PWs were Fedajeen,
but some were students. | was told that the
ground forces had stopped a car travelling
behind the coach but that the driver was
discovered to have been simply a
businessman from Baghdad who was soon to
be released. | also saw a female US JAG
officer who was apparently investigating the
whole incident. She had dark curly hair was
short and slim and wore a desert DPM
uniform. Also present was a young male US
Lieutenant who had just arrived in theatre who
said he was the investigating officer. He
asked for statements from everyone who had
been on the operation. | returned from the
American facility and spoke to the [SMU LO]
about this and | believe the FOB Commander
was also present. Somebody spoke to TGHQ.
In response | was told (I believe by the FOB
Cdr) that the US officer was to be told that a
report would be written about the incident.
The Lieutenant seemed content with this.”*’

8.7 At 13.04 on 12 April 2003, an email was sent from
the USAF SJA to the British and Australian Liaisons
at HQ1 Middle East regarding the report of the

247 3055 20 Aug 2003
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death. By this time, the BF at HQ1 Middle East must
have been aware of the death. The email requests
the provision of “copies of all message traffic,
reports and docs relating to the PW capture and
transport” to ensure compliance with the
requirements of Art.120 of the Geneva Convention
relating to the documentation of PW deaths. This
was forwarded to SMU HQ Command, J3 Ops and
Admin at SMU HQ at 18.10.

8.8 In the days that followed, the USIO collected
evidence including statements from those US
Soldiers who had contact with the PW and from
other PW who had been transported during the
mission. This evidence has been seen by me and
considered where relevant to the scope of my
Investigation.
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8.9 An email was sent at 10.50 on 15 April 2003
between US Forces at HQ1 Middle East, addressed
to the SJA, stating that the only requirement needed
to complete their investigation into the “DOA” is a
statement from the British SMU Forces at SMU HQ,
HQ1 Middle East. It notes that the BF need an
official request from the American central command,
CENTCOM, to render this statement. This email
supposed that the BF “will do a legal review as
well .

8.10  The SJA produced a seven-page
Memorandum on the incident and the state of the
investigation, dated 28 April 2003.2*° This
Memorandum includes a summary of the evidence
received at that point in time. This was followed with
further inquiries into how tight the sandbag was
fixed to the PW. A final Memorandum, signed off by
the US Army Commander, was circulated on 17
May 2003.2* It concludes:

“Coalition personnel used appropriate tactics,
techniques, and procedures in handling the
PW, and no unlawful act or omission caused

248 Memorandum for Cdr, APO AE 09367 “Subject: Official Enquiry
into the Death of Tanik S. Mahmud, a Prisoner of War”, 28 April
2003, SJA MOD-83-0000590-A

249 Memorandum for Cdr, Soccent, Macdill AFB, FL “Subject:
Official Enquiry into the Death of Tanik S Mahmud, a Prisoner of
War”, 17 May 2003 MOD-83-0000591-A
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the death or seriously endangered the health
of the PW.”

8.11  The 17 May 2003 Memorandum notes that a
notification of a PW death under unknown
circumstances will be provided to the ICRC and a
graves registration file will be forwarded to the
Theatre Enemy PW Camp.

8.12 It has not been possible to identify when this
Memorandum was provided to the British Forces. It
was likely provided to British Forces at HQ1 Middle
East at or around the time it was circulated.
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SECTION 9: THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK

9.1 | have been required to investigate two distinct
areas of fact. Firstly the circumstances surrounding
the death of Mr. Mahmud and secondly the adequacy
of the investigative actions taken by the military
command in the aftermath of his death. My TOR
expressly contemplate the former. The latter is, in all
cases, a consequential and necessary aspect of the
former. However, in a case involving a PW, the body
of law comprising the framework expressly provides
for and requires investigative action. A failure to carry
out a prompt and adequate investigation can
adversely affect the state’s compliance with the
obligation to carry out an Article 2 ECHR investigation
(where such obligation arises). It will be necessary to
consider the extent to which the quality of the
evidence now available has been prejudiced by any of
the failings which have occurred. Both the areas of
fact to which | refer and the issues to which they give
rise must be resolved by reference to the legal
framework governing both aspects.

International Humanitarian Law and JWP 1-
10

9.2 The treatment of PW is governed by Geneva
Convention Il Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners
of War of 12 August 1949 (‘GC III') as well as by any
applicable legislation, agreement or policy (see in
particular JWP 1-10). It is not clear to me when or by
whom or on what basis it was determined that Mr.
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Mahmud or any of the captured personnel had the
status of being PW within the meaning of GC Ill. The
information supplied from the coalition command
indicates that they were regarded as “dangerous”’.
Among the items recovered from them was a
document offering $5000 for every dead US soldier.2*°
According to material disclosed by and in the public
domain through the Australian authorities, 59 of the
detained were suspected of being “Fedayeen”, four
were said to be Iranians.?®' The group was believed to
include three persons identified as being Ba’ath Party
officials. The suspects were driving a bus and two
cars when they were stopped by AAF with one
embedded US member of the USAF.

9.3 Art.4 of GC lll lists the following categories of
persons as PW:

(1) Members of the armed forces of a Party to the
conflict as well as members of militias or
volunteer corps forming part of such armed
forces.

(2) Members of other militias and members of
other volunteer corps, including those of
organised resistance movements, belonging to
a Party to the conflict and operating in or

20 See section 8.6
251 See Public Interest Advocacy Centre (‘PIAC’) material, available
online at: https://www.piac.asn.au/projects/international-
projects/story-1-australias-detention-custody-and-transfer-policy-in-
afghanistan-and-iraq/
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outside their own territory, even if this territory
IS occupied, provided that such militias or
volunteer corps, including such organized
resistance movements, fulfil the following
conditions:

(@) That of being commanded by a
person responsible for his subordinates;

(b)  That of having a fixed distinctive sign
recognisable at a distance;

(c)  That of carrying arms openly;

(d)  That of conducting their operations in
accordance with the laws and customs of
war.

(3) Members of reqular armed forces who profess
allegiance to a government or an authority not
recognised by the Detaining Power.

(4) Persons who accompany the armed forces
without actually being members thereof [...];

(5) Members of crews...of the merchant marine
and the crews of civil aircraft of the Parties to
the conflict [...];

(6) Inhabitants of a non-occupied territory, who
on the approach of the enemy spontaneously
take up arms to resist the invading forces,
without having had time to form themselves into
regular armed units, provided they carry arms
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openly and respect the laws and customs of
war [...]

9.4 There is no evidence which sheds light on Mr.
Mahmud'’s position in respect of the categories listed
above. However, Art.5 GC |l provides that,

“should any doubt arise as to whether
persons having committed a belligerent act
and having fallen into the hands of the enemy
belong to any of the categories enumerated in
Article 4, such persons shall enjoy the
protection of the present Convention until
such time as their status has been determined
by a competent tribunal.”

As far as | am aware, Mr. Mahmud’s status was
never determined, by a competent tribunal or
otherwise. As a result, | have proceeded upon the
basis, which seems to have been assumed by
those involved at the time, that he was entitled to
the protective benefits of GC III.

9.5 Although I have drawn attention to the
complexities and impact on the course of events to
which the involvement of three coalition forces gave
rise, | do not consider it to be part of my remit to
attempt to interpret and rule upon any questions of
law under GC Ill as it applied to each of the coalition
forces. That said, it is impossible to consider the core
issues, in particular the consequences which flowed
from the legal advice which was tendered to the
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military command and acted upon, without paying
close attention to the legal framework.

9.6 In March 2003 the coalition entered into a
tripartite agreement (‘the Tripartite Agreement’) in
connection with the procedures to be adopted for the
transfer of PW (and others).?>* This did not depart
from the basic provision under Art.12 GC lll, which
provides: “Prisoners of war are in the hands of the
enemy Power, but not of the individuals or military
units who have captured them. Irrespective of the
individual responsibilities that may exist, the Detaining
Power is responsible for the treatment given
them...”?>® ‘Detaining power’ is not defined in GC Ill.
The available evidence was that Mr. Mahmud was
captured by AAF acting with an embedded member of
the USAF. It is unnecessary for me to enter into the
controversy which has appeared in the public domain
in Australia, in connection with this mission and the
death of Mr. Mahmud, and to express my view as to
which of the two forces, USAF or AAF, was the
Detaining Power. The range of the dispute is set out
in the PIAC report and makes for illuminating reading
on the complexities which can arise in the
implementation of coalition operations.** Whichever
of the forces should have acted and carried out an
identification process after capture of the PW it

252 Annex E
23 GC Il art.12
254 PIAC, “Military Detention: uncovering the truth”, 1 July 2011
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remains the case that | have had to proceed on the
basis that none was carried out. Similarly, as we shall
see later, whichever of the two forces (BF or USAF)
should have carried out a post-mortem, none was
carried out nor was there any medical examination
carried out (as opposed to a brief unqualified look at
the deceased’s chest and lower torso) which has
revealed a possible cause of death.>*®> The
examination of the upper torso nevertheless provides
some evidence (and there is no other) that he had not
sustained any obvious recent physical injury.=*°

9.7 There is no suggestion that any member of the
USAF or AAF were “embedded” within the BF. It
seems to me to follow that the EPW were, as a result,
transferred to the BF for the period of the transit to the
holding facility of the USAF. Under paragraphs 2 and
3 of Art.12 GC Il “... When prisoners of war are
transferred under such circumstances, [i.e.
transferred between parties to the Convention|,
responsibility for the application of the Convention
rests on the Power accepting them while they are in
its custody.” The Tripartite Agreement provided that:

“‘US, UK and Australian forces will as mutually
determined, accept (as Accepting Powers)
prisoners of war, civilian internees, and
civilian detainees who have fallen into the
power of any of the other parties (the

255 See sections 8.4, 12.10 and 13.4
2% See section 6.97

135



The Iraq Fatality Investigations

Detaining Power) and will be responsible for
maintaining and safegquarding all such
individuals whose custody has been
transferred to them...”?>’

It follows that it is safe to conclude the BF had an
obligation to ensure all the guarantees under GC
[l to Mr. Mahmud whilst he was in the BF’s

custody (as an “Accepting Power”).

9.8 Although published after the material time under
consideration, this analysis is also supported by the
MOD’s Manual of the Law of Armed Conflict, which
explains that, in respect of responsibility for PW under
Art.12 GC lll, “[PW] may be transferred by the
capturing power to another state which is a party to
[GC lll], provided that the capturing power is satisfied
that the other state is able and willing to apply that
Convention.??® If (as an analysis of GC llI, the
Tripartite Agreement, and the MOD’s Manual would
suggest) the BF acquired full responsibility for
guaranteeing the rights of Mr. Mahmud whilst he was
in their custody, it would have included the obligations
set out in Arts.120-121 of GC Ill with regard to “..a
medical examination of the body with a view to
confirming death and enabling a report to be made
and where necessary establishing identity.”**° That

257 Tripartite Agreement para 2, Annex E

258 See JSP 383 (JDCC), 2004 Edition, paragraphs 8.26 — 8.27
“Responsibility for Prisoners of War”.

29 GC I, Art.120
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said, it seems clear enough that the provisions
principally focus on the context of detention in custody
rather than death in the course of transfer where there
are no medical facilities available. In addition, it is
provided that:

“The detaining authorities shall ensure that
prisoners of war who have died in captivity
are honourably buried, if possible according to
the rites of the religion to which they
belonged, and that their graves are respected,
Suitably maintained and marked so as to be
found at any time.?%°

On the evidence | have, the deceased was
“honourably buried’ according to Muslim rites and
his grave was marked.

9.9 Art.121 provides:

“Every death or serious injury of a prisoner of
war caused or suspected to have been
caused by a sentry, another prisoner of war,
or any other person, as well as any death the
cause of which is unknown, shall be
immediately followed by an official enquiry by
the Detaining Power... Statements shall be
taken from witnesses, especially those who
are prisoners of war, and a report including

20 GC Il Art.120
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such statements shall be forwarded to the
Protecting Power.”

It is clear that the US regarded itself as the
Detaining Power and it commenced an Art.121
inquiry. The report, dated 28 April 2003, was
completed by the USAF Staff Judge Advocate.?®

What should the Enquiry Consist of?

International Humanitarian Law (‘1HL’)

9.10  Art.121 GC Ill does not state that a post-
mortem need be carried out. It is clear that no post-
mortem was carried out either by the BF or USAF and
there was no medical examination to determine the
cause of death. The ICRC Commentary of 1960 on
GC lll provides:

“An enquiry will also be opened in any case of
death from unknown causes. This may refer
to illness as well as to violent death.... What
should the enquiry comprise? Its object is to
establish the circumstances of death and
discover who was responsible. The victim
must therefore be thoroughly examined, if
necessary by an expert in forensic medicine
and all witnesses must be heard as well as
the person who made the afttack, if any. The
enquiry will generally be conducted by the
camp authorities. The term “official enquiry

261 MOD-83-0000590-A
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may, however, also refer to action by a
superior authority with specialised
responsibilities, that is to say the military
Judicial authorities, who will institute an
investigation similar to that which is

customary in cases occurring in the national
armed forces..."”%

JWP 1-10

9.11 8.173.1 of the MOD Manual provides that, in

case of the death of a PW in United Kingdom hands,

the procedure laid down in Prisoner of War Handling

3F is to be followed.?®® The relevant provisions are as
follows:

“3F83 Applicability of this instruction. The
instructions set out in this section cover the
death of PW at any time in the period of their
captivity from the moment of their capture to their
eventual release or repatriation....

3F84 Notification and Registration of Death.
Immediately following the death of a PW as

262 |CRC Commentary of 1960 on the Geneva Convention (lll)
relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War, pp.570-571.

263 “8.173.1 In case of the death of a prisoner of war in United
Kingdom hands, the procedure laid down in Prisoners of War
Handling (JWP 1-10) 3F84 is to be followed.” See also: Section 9
TO Theatre Reference Document D/PJHQ/5/8135/12/1, ‘Personnel
and Administration’, 10 March 2003 paras 30-31 and PJHQ

Deployed Ops Instruction Prisoner of War (PW) Handling (DOI 005)
27 January 2003.
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report is to be made to JR at JTFHQ and the
PWIB using the PW NOTICAS. The format of
this report is set out in Annex 3D. Following this
report, and after burial and any subsequent
investigation, a formal Notification of Death in
the format set out for a Death Certificate in
Annex 3D to this publication, is to be sent as
soon as possible to J1 at JTFHQ and the PWIB.
In the event of the un-natural death of a PW, an
additional copy of the Notification of Death is to
be forwarded for onward transmission to the
Protecting Power ...

3F85 Investigation into the Circumstances of
Death or Injury. An investigation is to be held
into every death (or serious injury) of a PW which
is suspected to have been caused by a guard or
escort, another PW or any other person as well
as any other death the cause of which is not
known. Depending upon the circumstances
surrounding the death, J1 at JTFHQ will direct
how the investigation is to be conducted. This
may take the form of the convening of an
appropriate form of formal inquiry in conjunction
with inquiries conducted by the provost services.
The findings of the inquiry, together with
statements taken from witnesses, are to be
forwarded to the Protecting Power. In the event
that an inquiry indicates that a person or persons
is guilty of causing the death (or serious injury),
GC lll requires the Detaining Power to take all

140



SECTION 9: THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK

possible measures for the prosecution of the
[sic] those responsible...”

3F86. This section provides for the procedure in
connection with burial and cremation. Of
particular relevance, it provides that
‘Examination of the Body. Before burial or
cremation takes place, there is to be a medical
examination of the body in order to confirm death
and, where necessary, to identify the remains. It
will be normal practice for an RMP SIB
Investigator to be present during this post
mortem investigation.” It stipulates that, if
possible, the burial of PW is to take place
“according to the rites of the religion to which
they belonged.?**

9.12  In the course of the Op RAKER inquiry, the
view was expressed that an offence or offences may
have been committed under Section 65 of the
International Criminal Court Act 2001. The section
relates to the criminal liability of commanders or other
superiors for failure to control the actions of forces
under their effective control or command. It is a
measure of the complexity to which the law can give
rise in this area that it was raised. | understand why
the issues arose and | have noted the circumstances
from which it emanated but it is not a matter for me to

264 JWP 1-10, Annex 3F Section X1V, Annex F
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rule upon and further comment from me is neither
appropriate nor necessary.
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SECTION 10: IDENTITY OF THE DECEASED
AND PARTICIPATION OF THE FAMILY

10.1 The evidence is sketchy and imprecise. It is
possible that a small number of identity documents
were recovered from the PW by the AAF, but they
did not complete individual detainee identity
cards.?®® The property which had been recovered
from the PW (including the identity cards) was
handed over by the AAF to the BF. SO53
recollected that during the handover phase, the
Australian Commander “provided him with an in-
brief and at the end of this briefing he handed over
a list of the individuals recovered together with bags
of property relating to the PWs, for transit.”>*°

10.2 | note however that the evidence of SO53 in
this regard is not consistent with the evidence of the
Australian soldier withesses who gave evidence to
Op RAKER. The AAF did not carry out an initial
documentation process at the point of capture.
There is evidence that the USAF completed a list
after receipt of the PW and after certification of the
death of the deceased, but there is no evidence
which discloses the basis upon which the list was
drawn up.

2% Australian Soldier A, 4 November 2003
2% S053 18 November 2003
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|dentification by the USAF

10.3  The PW each had sandbags over their heads
when they were handed over to USAF.¢" Mr.
Mahmud’s sandbag was cut off by a member of the
USAF as he was being examined for signs of life by
a USAF doctor.?*® The doctor was unable to find any
signs of life and certified Mr. Mahmud as dead at
21.26 on 11 April 2003.?°° The body was then
relinquished to medical personnel for burial, and he
was buried by the USAF at H1 in a ceremony
according with Muslim traditions within 24 hours of
his death.2"°

10.4 A death certificate was completed by US
Soldier B, the doctor who had examined Mr.
Mahmud, giving the date of burial as 12 April 2003
and the identity of the deceased as “Tarik S
Mahmud”, “oresumed”.?”" A USAF field investigation
was immediately commenced into the death, part of
the remit of which was to establish the deceased’s
identity.?’* The witness statements provided as part
of that investigation reveal that the identity was

267 US Soldier G, 15 April 2003; US Soldier A, 15 April 2003; US
Soldier D, 16 April 2003

268 US Soldier D, 16 April 2003. The camp doctor was US Soldier B
269 US Soldier A, 15 April 2003; US Soldier B, 16 April 2003

270 US Soldier A, 15 April 2003; US Soldier E, 14 April 2003

27T Annex D

272 S Memorandum (undated), Subject: “Appointment as
Investigating Officer”
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established after burial, by comparison of a passport
which had been found in one of the bags of property
belonging to the PW against photos of Mr. Mahmud
taken after his death.?’®

273 MOD-83-0000590-A, para 20; Memorandum 15 April 2003
‘Investigation of detainee death’; US Soldier G, 15 April 2003; US
Soldier E, 14 April 2003
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10.5  Attempts were made by the USAF field
investigation to ascertain the identity of the
deceased from the other PW. All but two of the PW
were transported for onward movement within days
and there is no available record as to where they
were transported. The remaining two PW were
questioned and were unable to give any information
about the identity of the deceased.?™

10.6  On conclusion of the USAF field investigation,
it was recommended that notification of Mr.
Mahmud’s death should be provided to the ICRC in
accordance with Art.121 of GC II1.?”°* There are no
available papers however indicating whether or not
this recommendation was carried out.

The Guardian Article

10.7  Inan article dated 7 February 2012,27° The
Guardian newspaper reported that the passport
attributed to the deceased in fact gave his name as
“Tariq Sabri al-Fahdawi” and not “Tanik Mahmud”. |
contacted the author of the article regarding the
source of this information, however he was unable
to assist. There is no other evidence | have seen
supporting the assertion.

274 US civilian witness B, 18 April 2003; US civilian witness C, 13
April 2003

275 MOD-83-0000590-A

278 https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/feb/07/irag-death-
secret-detention-camp
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10.8  According to paras 1 and 2 of my TOR, my
Investigation must discharge “the positive
obligations of the State pursuant to Article 2 of the
ECHR” and “must be accessible to the family of the
deceased’. A preliminary part of my Investigation
therefore concerned efforts to identify and locate the
family of Mr. Mahmud, as well as, insofar as
possible, to determine whether the correct identity
had in fact been attributed to Mr. Mahmud by the
USAF.

10.9 | have been provided with copies of the
photographs taken by the USAF, as well as copies
of the passport of Mr. Mahmud. Those copies are
grainy, and it is not possible for me to determine
whether the photographs of the deceased are the
same individual as appears in the passport. | have
also been provided with copies of pages from an
address book, also attributed to Mr. Mahmud, which
contains some names and telephone numbers. | do
not know how the address book came to be
attributed to Mr. Mahmud.

10.10 1 requested disclosure from the ICRC of any
information held by them relating to the death of Mr
Mahmud in an attempt to establish whether Mr.
Mahmud’s death had been reported to the ICRC,
and, if so, whether the ICRC had had any contact
with anyone claiming to be the family of Mr.
Mahmud. | received a response from the ICRC that
the ICRC enjoys a privilege of non-disclosure of
confidential communications received in the context
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of the fulfiiment of the ICRC’s humanitarian
mandate under the 1949 Geneva Conventions and
the 1977 Additional Protocols thereto.?”” | am
satisfied that this privilege is an established principle
of customary international law which applies to the
United Kingdom as a party to the Geneva
Conventions and their Protocols.?”® Accordingly, |
have not been able to confirm whether or not the
death of Mr. Mahmud was reported to the ICRC and
/ or whether contact was made by the ICRC with
any relatives of Mr. Mahmud.

10.11 | enlisted the assistance of Ms Zainab Al
Qurnawi (‘ZAQ’) of QC Law, to make enquiries on
my behalf in Iraqg in an effort to trace the family of
‘Tarig Sabri Mahmud’, alternatively “Tariq Sabri al-
Fahdawi'. In respect of the passport, ZAQ was able
to confirm that the name of the holder was Tariq
Sabri Mahmud, date of birth 1966, resident in
Baghdad, profession ‘businessman’; it had an expiry
date of 24 October 2001:°’? it did not contain the

277 |_etter from the ICRC to the IF| dated 24 July 2017 and
memorandum outlining the legal and policy bases of ICRC
confidentiality.

278 See ICTY, Prosecutor v Simic, Case No. IT-95-9, Decision on
the Prosecution Motion Under Rule 73 for a Ruling Concerning the
Testimony of a Witness, 27 July 1999; ICTY, Prosecutor v Brdjanin,
Appeals Chamber, Case No. IT-99-36, Decision on Interlocutory
Appeal, 11 December 2002; ICC Rules of Procedure and Evidence,
Rule 73.

29 Email from ZAQ to IFI dated 24 February 2018.
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particulars of any family members; and it contained
a residency permit for Libya issued on 22 May 1999
and valid until 30 April 2000.2%° After conducting
extensive inquiries, ZAQ was able to trace just one
individual with the name ‘Tariq Sabri Mahmud'’ in
Iraqg. However, after contacting this individual ZAQ
was satisfied (as am |) that he is not linked to the
deceased who is the subject of my Investigation.
ZAQ also contacted the Iragi Passport Office, who
were unable to assist as all records or passports
issued prior to 2003 had been destroyed in the 2003
invasion.=®!

10.12 ZAQ was also able to confirm that the
address book did not contain the name of the
holder; and that all but one of the telephone
numbers in the address book are now
disconnected, with the final number belonging to an
individual who now has no memory. As such, it did
not provide any assistance in confirming the identity
of Mr. Mahmud, or of locating and contacting his
family members.

10.13 As a final line of inquiry, | contacted the
Libyan Ambassador in order to request whether the
Libyan Government still held a record of Mr.
Mahmud'’s application for a Libyan residency permit

280 Email from ZAQ to IFI dated 24 February 2018.
281 Email from ZAQ to IFI dated 21 January 2018.
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issued in 1999, which might have assisted in
identifying details of Mr. Mahmud’s family.>®? | have
not received a response to that request.

10.14 | excluded the possibility of exhuming the
body of Mr. Mahmud in order to assist identification
and contact of any family members. | am guided by
the order of Silber J in R(Ali Zaki Mousa) v
Secretary of State for Defence (No 2),%%% according
to which my Investigation must be conducted in a
timely, proportionate and cost effective manner,
compliant with the common law and Article 2
ECHR,?%* and the touchstone by which the
procedure of my Investigation must be governed is
its “effectiveness in determining the issues and
compliance with Article 2 so that there is
participation by those interested to the extent
necessary to protect their legitimate interests.”?8°

10.15 With these considerations in mind, | conclude
that exhumation of the body in an attempt to identify
the deceased and his family members would not be
a proportionate or effective step in determining the
issues which are within my TOR, nor to enable
participation by those interested to the extent
required by Article 2. In particular, | consider that in

282 | etter from Sir George Newman to the Libyan Ambassador sent
on 30 April 2018.

283 12013] EWHC 2941(Admin).

284 [2013] EWHC 2941(Admin) at [1].

285 [2013] EWHC 2941(Admin) at [24].
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the absence of any identified potential family
members, it would not be possible to conduct a
DNA familial comparison in order to confirm the
identity of the deceased, nor, importantly, would it
be possible to obtain the consent of Mr. Mahmud'’s
family members to exhumation. It is therefore
difficult to see how exhumation, in any event, would
assist with this particular line of inquiry.=%°

10.16 | have also excluded the possibility of tracing
any of the other detained PW in order to question
them regarding the identity of Mr. Mahmud. The
USAF field investigation states that the other PW
were questioned regarding the identity of Mr.
Mahmud, and none were able to provide any
significant information.?®” | have no reason to doubt
that conclusion. Further, it records that they were
transported for onward movement from H1 within
days, with no record of where they were transported
to. In the premises, | do not consider that attempting
to trace and locate other PW, in order to question
them on the identity of Mr. Mahmud would be
proportionate, in light of the cost and time which
such steps would entail, and the very limited
prospects that they would yield results of any
evidential value to my Investigation.

286 | have separately considered and excluded the possibility of
exhumation for the purposes of determining the cause of death.
See section 11.22

2"MOD-83-0000590-A
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Conclusions on ldentity

10.17 Following the investigatory steps which | have
taken and the considerations set out above, there
remain two possibilities regarding the deceased'’s
identity. Firstly, that the USAF did attribute the
correct passport to the deceased (Tariq Sabri
Mahmud), however it remains unclear to me
whether his family have ever been informed of his
death, and | have been unable to locate any family
members of this individual. Secondly, that the USAF
attributed the incorrect passport to the deceased.
Again, it has not been possible to locate any family
members of the deceased individual if he is not
Tariq Sabri Mahmud.

10.18 In light of the difficulties identified, and the fact
that none of my inquiries have resulted in a
satisfactory conclusion, | have concluded that it is
not possible to determine, on the balance of
probabilities, either the identity of the deceased, or
whether he has any surviving family members who
would be interested persons in respect of my
Investigation.

10.19 Ordinarily, in order to satisfy the requirements
of Article 2 ECHR, the investigation must be
accessible to and involve the family of the
deceased.?®® Further, pursuant to my TOR, an
opportunity should be given to the next of kin to

88 See JL v Secretary of State for Justice [2009] 1 AC 588.
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raise lines of inquiry. In the premises, in order to
discharge this obligation in the absence of identified
family members, and in accordance with the order
of Silber J in R(Ali Zaki Mousa) v Secretary of State
for Defence (No 2)°*° | requested ZAQ to suggest
such lines of inquiry as Mr. Mahmud’s next of kin
may otherwise have wished to propose.?*® ZAQ

fulfilled this request.®’

289 12013] EWHC 2941(Admin) at [5] — [7].
290 | etter from the IFl to QC Law sent by email 4 May 2018.
291 |_etter from QC Law to the IFI dated 10 May 2018.
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SECTION 11: WAS THERE ERROR IN THE
HANDLING OF THE PW WHICH CAUSED
OR CONTRIBUTED TO HIS DEATH?

11.1 | have concluded that it is more likely than not
that death occurred whilst Mr. Mahmud was on the
aircraft, and before transfer to the USAF. | have
been concerned from the outset of this Investigation
about the settled conclusion reached by the chain of
command that Mr. Mahmud was unconscious, not
dead, at the time he was handed over to the USAF.
This conclusion was treated as providing the
appropriate factual basis for assessing what was
required by way of inquiry or taking action in
connection with the events which had occurred. The
soundness of this factual starting point was not
tested or questioned. It should have been. It should
not have carried the weight which was attributed to
it. Had this conclusion been properly considered as
an issue, it would inevitably have given rise to the
conclusion that the death required Investigation.
Even if the deceased was not dead on arrival it was
only a matter of minutes before the USAF declared
him dead. Plainly something had happened in the
course of the handling of him to require
investigation. Since | have come to the firm
conclusion that there should have been a prompt
response from the chain of command which
required a probing investigation and the taking of
witness statements, | might be regarded as being at
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the limits of my remit. That said | have not felt able
to ignore all indications as to how the failure to
direct a proper investigation came about.

11.2  The failure to give proper consideration to the
Issue carried potentially very deep consequences.
The evidence of SO53, from the outset of inquiries
has been that he had reported the death of Mr.
Mahmud to HQ.2%? If his account, after scrutiny in
this investigation, was found to be true and accurate
it would give rise to serious consequences for the
decisions reached at the highest level. The
evidence of SO53 to Op RAKER contradicted the
case for the soundness of the conclusion reached
by PJHQ and it fuelled a strong suspicion that there
may have been a cover-up. It follows that | have
examined the evidence of SO53 in some detail. 2%

11.3 | accept that when the aircraft landed after the
first lift, SO53 went to the American receiving
Commander to discuss how to effect the handover.
His recollection is that he recorded the name and
details of the commander in a written report which,
at a later time, he drew up. The report has not been
traced. He recalled that he conducted a handover of
the property comprising two holdalls containing
$635,000, which he had obtained from the AAF. For

292 See section 6.91
293 See sections 6.65 — 6.70 and 6.91
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these he obtained a receipt, of which | have seen a
copy.

11.4  The handover to the USAF was to be effected
by all the PW being in one line, but, | find that, after
a short time, SO53 became aware that the
offloading from Lifter 2 was slow and he went to
check on the progress. At some point he
approached the rear of Lifter 2 and spoke to a
member of the ARF who told him there had been a
“drama”. The prosthetic limbs of one PW had come
off and another was “possibly dead”. The evidence
discloses there was another PW who was
unresponsive and subsequently turned out to have
been unconscious lying at the back of the aircraft,
but SO53’s account in the 1645Z Report does not
record that he was told this.

11.5 |l accept that SO53 went to the ramp and
spoke to an ARF member who stated that one PW
had possibly had a heart attack and was possibly
dead. It is possible the LO asked directly: “Is he
dead or not?” and that the response was that he
was dead. It is likely the ARF member was either
S044 (a combat medic) or SO58 (untrained beyond
first aid training) who were on Lifter 2.2°* Clearly no
examination had been carried out by a doctor.
Equally it has to be said that the response of SO53
to what might have occurred was very low key. His
evidence to me points to him having no particular

294 See section 6.55
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interest in the suggestion someone had died. He
told me:

“All | was interested in was getting a group of
men moved from one point to another and |
wanted a straight answer as to whether we
had to move a dead body over to the
Americans

| was making split second decisions”.?%

11.6  No attempt was made to resuscitate the PW
by CPR. SO353’s actions were, as | find, marked
throughout, by a high degree of pragmatism and
having a dead body of a PW was no more
significant than the logistical problem it posed to the
mission.

11.7  He returned to the US Commander to ask for
a vehicle to transport the PW. | am not persuaded
he informed the commander there was a dead PW. |
asked SO53 about this at the public hearing,
however his recollection that he told the US
commander is not supported by any other
evidence.?®

11.8  When asked by me whether the death of the
PW gave rise to any need on his part to do anything

29 5053 MOD-83-0000586-A paragraphs 9; 13. See section 6.69
29 SO53 IFI 15/5/18 pp.53 — 54
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further than requesting transport from the USAF, it
Is clear that he held the view that since the PW was
to be handed over to allies, who had the
infrastructure to deal with the situation, including
medical facilities, his task was to hand them over
and get on with the mission.?®” He informed me that
it would have made no difference to him if the PW
had been reported to him as being unconscious, he
would have got on with the mission and left the
situation to the USAF. It follows that, in the absence
of a duly qualified member of the team, he felt there
was nothing which could be done. Certainly, as it
seems likely that he was told there was an
unconscious PW as well, he deliberately left the
condition of that PW to be handled by the
Americans. | can understand the adoption of a
practical approach to what had occurred. It was but
a short distance to the US hand over point and he
had reason to believe there were medical facilities
available there. | can see no ground for criticism of
the decision to continue with the handover where a
split-second decision was required. However, his
response to the death does call for attention, in
particular whether he reported the death in the
manner he described to me.

11.9  He stated that he reported the death “up the
chain of command’.?>® However, the first written

297 |bid, pp.54 — 55
298 |bid p.55; see also SO53 IFI MOD-83-0000586-A
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evidence of a report from him, available as a radio
log, timed at 21.10, did not state that the PW was
“‘dead’. It referred to “1PW HEART ATTACK”,
reflecting only part of the information he now
recollects having received at the rear of the
aircraft.>®°

11.10 Radio communications from SO53 in theatre
were made to HQ1 Middle East. The procedure was
for messages received in the Ops Room to be
logged in the radio log.?*° Where the message
merited more attention, a gist would also be
recorded in the “ops” log. Despite many requests
and searches, no part of the “Ops Log” and
potentially not all of the radio log have been traced
and disclosed.®" After 15 years, the recollection of
the withesses who may have been able to give
evidence as to what would have been recorded has
faded.

11.11 It appears likely, having regard to the terms of
the Radio Log, that at the time this 21.10 message
was sent, refuelling was taking place. 16 minutes
later, at 21.26, the US military certified death. It is
possible that the PW died in the delay between the
time the aircraft put down and the certification, but |
consider it more likely that he was dead on the

29 Annex C(i)
300 3059 IFI MOD-83-0000582-A; section 7.4
%1 See section 7.4
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aircraft when it landed, having died in the course of
the journey.

11.12 S053 learned of the certification between the
second and third lifts and recollects passing on the
information to HQ1 Middle East. He recalled doing
so on the flight to pick up the last remaining PW, but
| have real doubts that he did report that the death
had occurred during the course of the mission.®% |
have seen no record of such a communication. The
radio log timed at 21.10 on the 11 April records 15
PW as having been dropped, it refers to the process
of refuelling which was taking place in preparation
for the next lift. It is therefore a record of a report
sent or compiled around the time SO53 has
maintained he sent a report but it does not state that
the PW was dead, merely that he had had a heart
attack. He may have thought it had been a fatal
heart attack, or that by reporting a heart attack he
had said enough to report a death, but | have no
doubt more was required than an ambiguous
message. The recipient of the message would have
had no reason to know how serious it had been.

11.13 After the completion of the mission, SO53
held a “hot debrief”. He confirmed in his evidence to
me that he learned that an unconscious PW had
been able to walk when he arrived at the US
handover, that in the course of the flight the PW,
who had subsequently died, managed to get to his

302 See section 7.6
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feet, that he had been thrashing around with his
arms and had been put down in a controlled fashion
and made secure.®*® But more importantly, his
evidence was that the fact that someone had died
was mentioned at the debrief. This is not supported
by the evidence of others at the debrief.

11.14 He told me that he reported these matters to
HQ1 Middle East, in particular the information in
relation to the certification of a dead PW.3%* |
pressed him to say whether he was sure he had
done that and he replied that he was sure. | accept
that it was reported that death had been certified
even though there is no record available of such a
report, because there is other evidence which points
to the fact that by about 08.00hrs GMT, information
had been received in PJHQ via HQ2 Middle East
that one PW had been unconscious when delivered
to the USAF and had been certified as dead.**° But |
am unable to accept as accurate that he told his HQ
that there had been a disturbance on the aircraft
which had required the PW to be “put down”. He
could have included this in his 1645Z Incident

303 See section 7.8; SO53 IFI 15/5/18 p.64
304 |bid, p.65
395 See section 11.15
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Report, but he did not do so. This information was
given later in the report sent by SO47.3%

11.15 His recollection is that he received a request
from HQ1 Middle East “to provide a written report on
the mission” and that “he compiled a written
overview transmitted by written means”.*°” The only
available statement is headed as a statement of
S053, timed at 16.45 12 April. But it was not signed
by SO53 but was “witnessed” by the ARF
Commander and CO of Il Sgn (SO55). As | have
observed, there must have been an earlier
communication, before 16.45, because PJHQ and
HQ1 Middle East had received a report of an
unconscious PW who had subsequently been
certified as dead. This information was discussed
both in London and in HQ1 Middle East around
08.00 GMT in the morning.®®

11.16  The 16457 Incident Report is a confusing
document. Notably it makes no reference to the PW
being dead or being certified as dead by USAF but
refers to the possibility or potentiality that a PW had
had a heart attack. It makes no reference to the
disturbance which had required him to be “put
down”. It reflects no part of the information which
SO53 recollected being given at the debrief. Its
contents are broadly consistent with the effect of the

306 See sections 7.13 — 7.20
%07 S053 IFI 15/518 p.65
308 See sections 7.45 and 7.50 — 7.51
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evidence given to me by the ARF commander,
S0O55, who witnessed it.

11.17 Whether the PW was dead on the aircraft or
died within the minutes up to the moment of
handover or in the minutes up to the certification of
his death should have been of no great moment and
should not have affected the decision making at
PJHQ. In all probability he must have been so close
to death while in the hands of BF that a firm and
final conclusion was not required. But it is clear that
the decisions of the military high command were
driven by reliance on the information that he had
been unconscious when handed over and had been
subsequently certified as dead by the USAF. No
time frame was given at any material stage to inform
HQ as to how long after handover to the USAF the
certification took place. | am satisfied that legal
advice was given at PJHQ in the morning of 12 April
on the basis that he had died in the custody of the
USAF and that no circumstances existed giving rise
to suspicion in connection with his death. Had it
been concluded he had died or could have died
whilst in the custody of BF, | believe the advice may
have been different.

11.18 Unless the evidence of SO53 can be treated
as reliable, the quality and intent of the reporting fell
short of conveying the conclusion that a PW had
died. | have doubts about the accuracy of his
evidence that he pressed for an answer and was
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told by an ARF member that the PW was dead. He
did not report this to the ARF commander (SO35).
There is a lack of evidence that he communicated
this to anyone. It is possible that because he saw no
particular significance in whether he was dead or
unconscious he took the decision not to commit
himself to any conclusion other than the speculative
suggestion that the PW had suffered a heart attack.
This reinforces my real doubt as to whether he
reported that the PW was dead on arrival via radio. |
am satisfied that he would have continued with the
mission and handed him over to the USAF even if
he had thought he was simply unconscious. He had
no reason for not reporting the death or not
communicating it to the ARF Commander if that is
what was clearly in his mind at the time. No-one
else suggests that it was mentioned at the “hot
debrief” and the contemporaneous written record
does not corroborate his recollection nor support a
finding that he accepted the opinion which had been
given to him that the PW was dead.

11.19 Itis possible that one or more of the ARF
members thought he might be dead, but they did
not consider themselves qualified to reach a firm
conclusion on a medical issue.*® They did not seem
to place great weight upon the possibility of death or
Injury nor address the consequences. In the
circumstances of this hasty and tense operation in

398040 IFI 16/5/18 p.46
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difficult conditions probably they were more intent
on completing the tasks assigned to them. In the
result it seems more likely than not that the
information reported to London was to the effect
that a PW had arrived unconscious and had
subsequently been certified dead by the US military.
It follows that cause for deep concern for serious
consequences to flow from SO53’s evidence and a
deliberate failure to act on a reported death of a PW
at PJHQ do not arise. However, | must at a later
stage consider whether too much weight was
attached in the decision-making process to the
information that he was unconscious at handover.®™

The Handling by the ARF on Lifter 2

11.20 | am satisfied that the confusion over the
numbers to be loaded and where they were to be
loaded caused a breakdown in the security being
exercised over the PW. One member of the ARF
was left to control a large, strong PW who
succeeded in breaking free of his cuffs and taking
off his hood. He had to be restrained and put to the
floor of the aircraft.®'" His conduct probably did not
call for lethal force to be used but | am satisfied that
he presented a real threat to the safety of the men
and the aircraft. | am satisfied that there was little or
no time to make an assessment of the degree of

310 See section 12
311 See sections 6.32 — 6.48
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force which was required for him to be put to the
floor. SO38 candidly accepted that before he got
hold of the person he did not think “what force am |
to use?”. | cannot rule out that less force could have
been used but he was resistant and impact with the
hard metal floor or vehicle rail was capable of
causing some significant injury.®'> On the evidence |
am satisfied that there were two PW who presented
a threat to the safety of the aircraft and the men.

11.21 It follows that | find it more likely than not that
the handling of the PW, in the manner | have
endeavoured to describe, did cause his death. It
seems likely that the action would itself have caused
noise, raised voices and violent physical struggling,
but having regard to the noise from the aircraft, the
very limited visibility within the aircraft and the need
for the ARF members to look to the security of their
own PW, | am not surprised that there are no other
accounts available to me of the detail of what
happened. The evidence has not enabled me to
establish the cause of death. The dark and onerous
circumstances on the aircraft were not conducive to
the ARF being able to provide clear evidence as to
what they saw and heard. As a result, | have not
been able to establish how the deceased met his
death beyond my conclusion that it resulted from his
handling. In the absence of a post-mortem or

312 See Annex B

166



SECTION 11: WAS THERE ERROR IN THE HANDLING OF
THE PW WHICH CAUSED OR CONTRIBUTED TO HIS
DEATH?

thorough medical examination of the deceased, |
have no evidence of the cause of his death.

11.22 | considered exhuming the body for the
purposes of examining the cause of death and
determined that there is no realistic possibility at this
stage of being able establish the cause of death
given the passage of time, and that exhumation
would not be reasonable and proportionate, even if
possible.™ In reaching this view | considered the
inquiries made by Op RAKER into the logistical
obstacles and cost of exhumation and the likelihood
of establishing the cause of death, which informed
the decision not to pursue this course of action.®'
Whether exhumation ought to be pursued was re-
considered by Op SPELT between 2012 and 2014.
Advice was sought from Forensic Pathologists at
the Centre for Anatomy and Human Identification at
the University of Dundee, who produced a Report
for the investigation concerning the forensic value of

313 For consideration of exhumation for the purposes of establishing
the identity of the deceased, see sections 10.14 — 10.15. In R (Al-
Sadoon & Ors) v SSHD (No. 2) [2016] 1 WLR 3625, Leggatt J
considered the extent of the investigatory requirements under
Article 2 in cases investigated by the IHAT and where exhumation
had not been performed. He affirmed at [110] — [116] that the IHAT
had sufficiently discharged the state’s duty under, inter alia, Article
2 without taking this step.

314 26 March 2004, Decision Log 13
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photographs of the deceased, the condition of the
remains given the period since burial, and the
possibility of evidence retrieval should exhumation
be performed.®’ The report concludes that: the
poor-quality images available provided no evidence
to support the suggestion that the PW'’s neck had
been broken, although this could not be excluded as
a possibility;°'® the prospects of ascertaining cause
of death would depend upon the state of the body,
which is likely to be fully skeletonised (although this
will depend on environmental conditions);®'" it is
possible that investigations may assist enquiries into
whether asphyxiation from ligature occurred or
whether there was damage to the vertebral
column.3™

11.23 | made enquiries with the British Embassy in
Baghdad regarding the feasibility of exhumation in
the region. The British Embassy confirmed that this
may be possible, however the most important
consideration would be the family’s wishes.®'® | am
satisfied that doing so would be difficult and

315 Report dated 27 August 2014. | have not sought further
pathology advice, taking the view that this would be
disproportionate under the circumstances set out in this paragraph
%1% |bid, p.10

317 1bid, p.10-11

%18 |bid, p.11

319 Email dated 31 December 2017 from Brig Rob Jefferies,
Defence Attaché, British Embassy Baghdad
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costly.®2° While | have seen co-ordinates and a
sketch map indicating the burial site of Mr. Mahmud,
there would be difficulties in locating the body which
are compounded by my understanding that there
may be at least one other body buried at H1.
Without having been able to identify the family of
the deceased, | am unable to take their views into
account.

11.24 | find it more likely than not that Mr Mahmud
died whilst on the aircraft which carried him from the
PUP to the airfield adjacent to the USAF holding
facility.

11.25 | find that he was one of two PW who strongly
resisted being captured and being placed on the
Chinook aircraft (Lifter 2).

11.26 1find that each of the PW who resisted were
forcibly restrained and placed on the floor of the
aircraft. They were bound at the wrists in plasticuffs
and were hooded.

11.27 1find that one of the two non-compliant PW
resisted and was forcibly restrained before the
aircraft left the PUP and that the other non-

320 Although | have not quantified the costs involved, it is reasonable

to assume that significant costs would be incurred:
R (Keyu) v SSHD [2015] UKSC 69 at [130]
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compliant PW had to be restrained shortly after
take-off. Both were motionless on arrival.

11.28 Two motionless PW were conveyed by a
Humvee vehicle to the US facility but only one of
them was dead on arrival. The other was able to
walk after arrival at the facility.

11.29 1find that conduct amounting to strong
resistance to capture, for example by becoming free
from plasticuffs and a hood and the flailing of arms,
in the confines of the crowded aircraft would have
presented a risk and threat to the safety of the
members of the ARF who had to guard the PW and
a threat to the safety of the aircraft and the whole
crew.

11.30 1 have no evidence which has enabled me to
connect the forcible restraint which was applied to
the two PW to be the cause of the death of one of
them although, as a matter of inference it is more
likely than not that it did. | reject the suggestion that
the PW died of a heart attack because there is no
basis for concluding that he did. The evidence |
have is that it was a single speculative suggestion
made by one of the ARF as a possible explanation
for two motionless PW on the aircraft and a passing
observation, in bad light, made by a USAF soldier
that the deceased’s chest had been shaved.

11.31 The clear inference of a connection between
the death of the PW and forcible restraint by a
member of the ARF provides no basis for reaching a
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conclusion on the cause of death. | am unable to
conclude whether the force used caused injury or
whether injury was caused by forcible contact with
the floor of the aircraft or whether it was a
combination of both. It would be entering into the
realm of pure speculation to suggest other causes
such as being suffocated, either from the hood, or
him being sat upon. It seems likely that the actions
caused a degree of commotion in the confined
space of the aircraft, accompanied no doubt by
shouts and raised voices and sustained forceful
action.
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SECTION 12: ISSUE 3: WAS THERE AN
ADEQUATE RESPONSE TO THE TWO
MOTIONLESS PW?

12.1 | have concluded that the lines of
responsibility for handling the PW who had been
forcibly restrained were not clear and that much of
the explanation for this is that it was a specialist
mission where reporting up the chain of command
rests with the Liaison Officer and the working
convention is that there is a minimum of open
discussion. A proper response to the two motionless
PW required more than their removal to the US
facility. There should have been some basic and
immediate inquiry in to what had occurred.

12.2  S053 showed some curiosity in their
condition but little or no interest in what had
happened. | do not believe he saw it as a priority
and he said nothing to SO55. | believe this
stemmed from his training and the nature of the role
he was performing. As a trained and experienced
LO, he knew that he had responsibility for ensuring
that the mission was completed. He realised that he
had to report that something had occurred and in
haste alighted upon the suggestion that the PW had
suffered a heart attack. | do not believe when
handing over the PW to the USAF that he
emphasised that there was a need for them to carry
out a careful medical examination of the PW. He
may have assumed that they would do so, but | do
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not believe that he realised the BF needed a report
in order to fulfil their responsibility to the PW. In this
respect, | take note that the MOD’s publication in
2014, reporting upon systemic issues in the
reporting of death and mistreatment of detainees,
identifies the requirement that a report should be
made within four hours of an incident occurring.®
This should lead to the training of all those in
command of missions being aware that prompt and
Immediate steps must be taken to gather reliable
information for the use of the chain of command.

12.3  S055 was not kept adequately informed. He
recalls that after all the PW had been delivered to
the USAF, it was the US commander who informed
him: “That guy from lift one was DOA”.**> He did not
recall SO53 informing him during the mission that a
PW had been dead on arrival, but felt this was
unlikely as he was surprised to learn this at the end
of the mission.**® This exchange took place before
the “hot debrief” but nothing was said at the debrief
by him or SO53 about the dead PW.%** | consider
the absence of any comment at the debrief about
the dead and the unconscious PW to be a strong

821'Systemic Issues Identified from Investigations into Military
Operations Overseas: July 2014’, section D-17. See further SOl J3-
9, MOD-46-0000029-A and ‘Joint Doctrine Publication 1-10
Captured Persons (CPERS) (3™ Ed.) January 2015.

322 5055 20 Aug 2003, p.7

323 S0O55 IFI MOD-83-0000584-A, paragraphs 29 — 30

%24 |bid, paragraph 32
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indicator that the importance of what had occurred
had not been registered. There had been
insufficient training about the need for immediate
reporting in connection with any possible
mistreatment of PW. There was likely to have been
a reluctance to engage in discussion which would
give oxygen to the rumours which were likely to flow
from the incident. At least one witness recalls SO53
discouraging discussion. Nothing was said about a
death by SO55 when he reported to the Command
Post shortly after the debrief.*>®> These events
happened in the course of the night or the early
hours of the 12 April, but SO55 visited the US sector
later in the day. Upon this visit, the US Colonel
confirmed the death and informed him that the
deceased had been buried first thing that morning.
He also mentioned that there were some high-value
targets for the coalition in the collection of PW and
that the deceased appeared to have been prepared
for a suicide mission, because he had a shaved
chest and further that he had a scar which could
iIndicate he had had cardiac surgery. He thought the
deceased may have been connected to the PW with
no legs and mentioned documents which had been
found offering $5000 for the head of any US
serviceman. SO55 next met with two US
investigating officers who asked for statements from
all those on the mission. He returned to the BF base

325 |bid, p.8 Q1
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and reported on this request to SO53 and the
commander of Il Squadron.3%°

12.4  The Warrant Officer for the BF also visited the
USAF on the morning of the 12 April to ascertain
whether accusations were being levelled at BF
personnel and left with the overall impression that
there were no issues to address.

12.5 It seems likely that it was around this time that
the 1645Z Incident Report, to which | have already
referred as a confusing document, was drawn up.
SO55 recollects the departure of SO53 at or about
this time.**’ It is generally agreed he left the base for
another mission. It is likely the document was
created to meet the demand from HQ for more
details. It plainly failed to give details of what was
then known to those in theatre. | have considered
whether the contents were drafted with deliberate
vagueness but have concluded otherwise. | see the
document as consistent with my firm conclusion that
there was a lack of understanding about the need
for immediate, reliable and thorough reporting in
connection with the possible mistreatment of PW
and a belief that perfunctory attention could be paid
to the request.

%6 5055 20 Aug 2003
%7 3055 20 Aug 2003
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12.6  Following the request for further information,
SO55 recalls that at about 20.00 on the 12 April he
sat down with SO47, SO38 and SO39 to compile a
more detailed report.®?® SO47 took the lead in
drafting this report but regrettably the PW had
already been buried and no adequate medical
examination had been carried out.

S0O47's Written Report

12.7  The facts recorded in SO47’s report
commencing on page 2 have remained unchanged
to this date. After the passage of 15 years, | have
no reason to doubt the essence of the account the
men have consistently given since | have not been
able to test their accounts by reference to any
probative objective evidence, such as a post-
mortem or medical evidence.*?* It is significant that
the report appears to me to have recognised that
there could be a need for “statements” to be taken
and emphasised that the process would require the
men to have the protection of legal representation. |
have no doubt that SO47 realised that to have
delivered two unconscious PW to the USAF after a
short journey in a crowded aircraft raised questions
about the way in which they had been handled. For
reasons which | understand, principally that it was
for PJHQ to decide what to do, he was not prepared
to carry out the forensic questioning himself. He

328 S0O55 20 Aug 2003
329 See sections 11.30-11.31
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wished to accord proper protection to his men. But
he did nothing to prevent that course being
adopted.®> It was for PJHQ to consider the position
and to decide what further action was necessary.

12.8  Although the report makes no mention of one
of the PW being certified dead shortly after being
handed over to the USAF, it seems to me that this
was not because it was not known at the time of the
report that this was the case. Nor does the report
refer to the fact that he had been buried in the early
hours of 12 April. | am satisfied, having seen the
SITREP from HQ2 Middle East to PJHQ timed at
23.00 hours on 12 April, that this information was
communicated up the chain of command and that it
was known that the USAF had requested a detailed
report and or statements.

12.9 It is clear to me that there should have been a
medical examination of the deceased to determine
the cause of death and to report on whether he had
sustained any recent injury.

12.10 ltis clear to me that medical expertise and
facilities for carrying out an examination were known
to be available at the US military facility, within a
short distance of the aircraft upon which the
deceased arrived, whereas none were available on
the aircraft.

330 5047 IFI MOD-083-000580-A, paragraphs 56—61; SO47 IF|
MOD-083-000574-A paragraphs, 3.3; 3.5
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12.11 | find that little or no information was provided
at the time of handover to the US military by the BF.
It is possible that this was due to a state of
confusion on the part of the BF, a lack of
communication between the members of the ARF
who had some knowledge of the circumstances of
what had occurred combined with the dominating
sense of urgency that existed to continue with and
finish the mission.

12.12 The UAF, having certified the deceased as
dead and given naotification to the American
Department of Defence, commenced an
investigation under Art.121 of GC 111.°*' They did not
carry out a medical examination of the deceased in
order to determine the cause of death because
there was no qualified pathologist available at that
time who could carry out a post-mortem.=*? Earlier
an assessment was made by a US soldier that he
could not find “signs of trauma or mortal wounds”
and the only wound which was noted, was a bloody
nose.®* In the result it was certified that the cause
of death was unknown and in the early hours of the
12 April the deceased was buried. That said, it is
clear to me that had the USAF been requested to
exhume the body in order that a medical
examination could be carried out, steps could have

331 See sections 8 and 9.7
332 See section 8.4
333 See section 8.2
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been taken to conduct a proper post-mortem, and it
Is unlikely that the request would have given rise to
difficulties. Even though the USAF had not carried
out a medical examination to determine the cause
of death, the fact that he had been buried would not
have prevented one being carried out.
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SECTION 13: ISSUE 4: WHETHER THE
RESPONSES OF THE HIGH COMMAND TO
THE REPORTS IT RECEIVED WERE
PROMPT, EFFECTIVE AND IN ACORDANCE
WITH WHAT WERE REQUIRED?

13.1 PJHQ had the authority to order an immediate
investigation into the circumstances surrounding the
death of the deceased. It should have done so. Had
the 2012 SOI J3-9 been in force, a “First
Impressions Report” would have been submitted to
the Force Provost Marshal within 4 hours of the
incident.*** PJHQ would have been informed. If
necessary, exhumation followed by a post mortem
could have taken place. It seems to me that the
prospect of an Art.121 investigation being carried
out by the USAF may have led to too little attention
being given to the obligations which the BF should
have assumed. It could have given rise to the
comfortable perception that it could be left to the
USAF, although this approach was inconsistent with
a stated reluctance to allow the USAF to have
access to the ARF members and without that
access the USAF were to receive only the report
from SO52 which had been drawn up on the basis
of the report from SO47. Thus the request from the
US military for statements was declined and a copy
of the report was sent to them. The report of the

3 Section 16, SOI J3-9, MOD-46-0000029-A
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Staff Judge Advocate concluded with a number of
recommendations including the following:

‘Recommend that this matter be forwarded
through the chain of command to the liaison
officers responsible for the implementation of
the tripartite agreement to mutually arrange or
determine which party is the Detaining Power
for the purpose of taking other appropriate
action”,3%

13.2 | have seen no evidence that this line of
inquiry was followed up. | have no evidence that the
lawyers in London addressed this issue. | do not
believe that my TOR extend to the enquiry to which
this could give rise nor do | consider that my TOR
extend beyond reaching a conclusion that the most
likely fundamental reason why no investigation was
ordered stemmed from the legal advice which was
given.

13.3 | am satisfied that a decision was reached by
the high command, after legal advice had been
received, that because the PW was not certified
dead until he had been handed over to the US
facilities, no formal request of PJHQ, nor any
decision by PJHQ for action to be taken was
required. As a result, no investigation was ordered,

%% MOD-83-0000590-A
181



The Iraq Fatality Investigations

no post-mortem or autopsy was ordered and no
investigation by the P&SS took place. | have not
been able within the scope of my inquiry to embark
upon a consequential search for the author or
authors of the legal advice. | can say that | am
satisfied, having received evidence from her, that it
was not advice given by the PJHQ Legal Advisor,
CO1.%% |t was, | am satisfied, legal advice from
PJHQ which determined the core of SO61’s
decision to record that no further steps were
necessary.*’ It is a matter for others to decide
whether my conclusion requires any action to be
taken.

13.4  The absence of a medical examination of the
deceased taking place, the absence of a post
mortem being carried out and the availability only of
the results of a limited medical perusal of the upper
part of the deceased’s body by a doctor has given
rise to serious and sustained consequences for a
period of fifteen years.

13.5  The report from the commanding officer,
S047, disclosed circumstances which should have
been investigated. The Assistant Chief of Staff
responsible for J1 (Personnel) and J4 (Logistics) at
PJHQ in 2003 (SO67) accepted in his evidence to
me that the need for an investigation seemed to

3% See sections 7.50-7.52
337 See sections 7.29-7.34
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have fallen “through the cracks”.**® His evidence,
which | accept, was that a decision that there was to
be no investigation into the death would ultimately
have been a Full Command responsibility to take
the decision as to whether there should be an
investigation, and that he was authorised to take
such a decision on behalf of the CJO.**® The matter
should have been investigated in accordance with
JWP 1-10 but wasn’t, and as a result there is no
evidence about how the PW died.**° The matter fell
through the cracks unintentionally, and the
involvement of SMUs in particular “muddied the
waters in relaying information back across the chain
of command’.>*'

13.6  The PJHQ Legal Advisor, CO1, who was but
briefly engaged to help, did not see SO47’s report at
any material time but accepts that had she done so
she would have advised of the need for an
investigation to be ordered.*** | agree with her view.
S0O47’s report detailed events which took place on
the aircraft which pointed to the likely conclusion the
deceased had died on the aircraft. Further and in

338 S067 IFI MOD-83-0000579-A, paragraph 13

39 |bid, paragraph 7. Full Command resided with the Commanders
in Chief for Fleet, the Army and RAF

30 |bid, paragraph 12

%1 |bid, paragraph 13

32 CO1 MOD-83-0000589-A, paragraph 10
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any event, it contained facts which merited prompt
investigation in order to determine whether the
actions of the members of the ARF caused or
contributed to the death of the deceased. The report
gave rise to a reasonable conclusion, which may or
may not have been borne out by the taking of
statements, that the body should be promptly
exhumed for a thorough medical examination to be
carried out.

13.7  In the absence of these steps being taken,
allegations of a cover-up have been advanced,
lengthy investigations and reviews have taken place
and the members of the ARF who had the
deceased under their control have lived with years
of stressful uncertainty.
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SECTION 14: CONCLUDING COMMENTS AND
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SECTION 14: CONCLUDING COMMENTS
AND RECOMMENDATIONS

14.1  The margin of difference between the
outcome of this mission and the aspirational
instructions set out in JPW 1-10, formulated on the
basis of a clear recognition of the historical
perspective that surrounds the treatment of PW, has
already given rise to concern within the MOD.?* The
contents of the 2014 Systemic Issues report draw
upon the IHAT review into the death in this case.**

14.2  The layers of authority involved in the
framework for a chain of command can give rise to
two particular mischiefs. Firstly, that it is very difficult
after the event to determine at what stage a
decision was reached and who was party to it.
Secondly, that if it becomes necessary to identify
who knew what at any particular moment, “the fog of
war”, as SO52 so vividly described it, is likely to
make this a very elusive goal.**

14.3 | believe that the requirement for reporting to
take place within four hours of an incident
occurring®*® is an essential first step in providing a

343 ‘Systemic Issues ldentified from Investigations into Military
Operations Overseas: July 2014’

34 bid. p.3

345 5052 IFI MOD-83-0000587-A

346 SOI J3-9
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practical foundation for ensuring that the
“benchmark” for the preservation of “culture and
humanity” is met.**" | suggest that a need exists for
the person having the duty to report to be
unambiguously identified and where CF are
involved, to liaise, inform and co-operate with the
other forces.

14.4  SMU should have ready access to legal
advice. Should sensitivity require it, their own legal
advisers. Where specialist units are involved in a
mission with support from other military units, it
should be clearly understood by all involved that
where reporting is required there must be an
adequate degree of communication and discussion
to enable the reporting to be of value.

37 JWP 1-10, para 103
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Image of deceased

187



The Iraq Fatality Investigations

ANNEX B:
Plan of aircraft
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ANNEX C:

() Extracts of Radio Log, HQ1 Middle East,
11 Apr 2003
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(i) “Incident Report” 121645Z Apr 03
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(i) - SITREP 122300Z Apr 03

Pis3
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iv) 'SO47 Report’, “EPW Incident
ARF — Fri 11 APR 037, 12 April 2003

RESTRICTED
ENCLOSURE 5TO
HI1/IIS/Ops 33154/2003
DATED 22 JUN 04
12 Apr 03
AXXXXXXX
Copy to;

IT Sgn RAF Regt=-2IC
EPW INCIDENT ARF - FRI 11 APR 03

L. Thank you for taking the time to talk to me on this PM and alleviate my fears that resulted
from the apparent ‘Salami Slicing' of information you required. 'You are now aware that I would
not wish, as discussed, for this document to be used as a legal statement. I formal Statements are
required I would wish, as a prudent precaution, to have a legal representation present with
my men. Therefore, as discussed, I would appreciate it if you would refrain from forwarding this
document to higher formations without that understanding. | also feel an overview of the ARF SOP
for EPW handling would be worthwhile at this point:

a. The CH47 (Heli 2) concerned has 14 pax from the ARF:

- 1 x chalk commander / positioned outside a/c in overall control

-2 x pax at front of a/c as internal over watch

- 1 x tie and bag man (linkman) positioned as ho/to man between the two forces

- 10 x pax in pairs for reception and processing of EPW onto a/c (the second pair on
board included the chatk 2 i/c who once on board would control the ac if chalk
commander not available) one man to handle and orie man to cover:

~- EPW handled from the rear one hand on collar and one hand on the small
of back.

-- EPW cover from one metre to the left/right and be prepared to handle if
EPW became difficult.

- In a/c EPW handled to the floor by applying pressure and weight. Handler then .
kneeled beside / on top of the EPW, cover man remaining standing until required,

All EPW placed nose to tail with one man kneeling next to him and one standing

and covering. However, due to increased number of EPW the ARF/EPW ratios

were slightly reduced,
2. Overview
a. For the first transit Heli | (chalk commander accompanied

by OC ARF, the LO was due to take 7 EPW"s and Heli 2 (chalk commander
was due to take 8 EPWs’. Due to the Australians taking 2 EPWs® to the wrong ac, Heli 1
eventually took 5 EPWs’ and Heli 2 took 10 EPWs’. On arrival at the pick up all the ARF
were concerned by the poor preparation of the EPWs’ who were poorly cuffed (by the
thumbs only with small tie wraps to the front of their bodies) and bagged (none of the
EPWSs had bags on their heads, this remained the case for transit 2 and 3 despite sufficient
bags and cuffs being lefi for the Australians by the ARF), The Australians appeared to un-
necessarily rush the EPWs' onto the ac which culminated with 2 EPWs® being placed,

|
RESTRICTED
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b.

RESTRICTED

unaccompanied by the ARF, onto the wrong ac. It was to one of these two EPWs’ that the
incident concerns. A detailed chronological description is outlined below. The whole
evolution is set against a time pressure environment induced by the increased number of
EPW (40-50 EPWs’ initially briefed, actually 63 EPWs’ were taken), ac refuelling
requirement and light levels.

Sequence of events 11 APR 03 at the PUP:

(1) At the PUP each EPW was accompanied by 2 ARF personnel. They were
placticuffed to the front of the body by the Australians and hooded by sandbags by
the ARF. 2 ARF personnel escorted each EPW to the CH47s, During the loading
procedure, each EPW was forced to the floor face down into a posture that allowed
positive control by ARF control. 10 EPW were loaded onto Heli 2. The last two
EPW were loaded onto Heli 2 by the Australian personnel, unsighted byl and
Heli 2 chalk Comd. The second to last EPW refused to adopt the required position
despite two ARF personnel attempting to control him. The linkman observed the
situation and took control of the EPW. He was forced to the floor of the ac, A
member of the ARF was then instructed to kneel on the subject EPWs’ back to
subdue him. The ARF then attempted to move all EPWs’ forward to facilitate the
closing of the ac ramp as directed by the Air Load Master. At this time, the subject
EPW became violent and as he was moved freed himself from the plasticcuffs and
stood up, flailing his arms, striking out at ARF personnel and attempting to move
forward in the ac. Seeing this development the linkman swept the subject EPWs’
legs away with his own foot, holding the EPW and lowered him to the floor. He
then knelt on the subject EPWs’ back and re-cuffed him. He also ensured the hood
was secure. This subdued the subject EPW and a ARF member was detailed to
stand guard, kneeling on the subjects EPWs’ back. The ac then lifted and all EPWs’
were acting in the correct manner. Each EPW was assured throughout the flight by
gently patting them on the head and shoulder with accordance with ARF orders.
After an unspecified time, the linkman observed a large wet patch, which he
assumed to be urine around the subject EPW, The linkman was initially concerned
and shook the EPW by the leg, telling his guard to monitor him.

(2) At this time, there was some commotion at the front of the ac due to one of
the EPWs’ losing his artificial legs. This then drew the attention of the linkman
away from the subject EPW. On refocusing on the subject EPW the linkman was
content that he was passive and compliant. The aircraft then arrived at H1, and all
Heli 2 EPWs remained on the ac until ordered to move by the ARF commander,

() Onarrival at Hl Heli 2 Chalk Comd immediately left the ac to speak with
ARF Comd. The Linkman was left at the ac and posted himself at the ramp. He
was in this position when the ARF Comd and Sigs arrived at heli 2 with the Chalk "
Comd. The linkman was then despatched to the rear of the ac by the Chalk Comd to
receive the EPWs. EPW No 1 (nearest the ramp) was moved off the ac by 2 x ARF
pers. EPWs 2 (subject EPW) and 3 were not compliant and the Chalk Comd made
the decision t6 leave them on the ac under guard and move the remaining EPWs off.
This was completed and then an ARF escort pty ordered to move EPWs 2 & 3 off
the ac. These men were found to be unresponsive and at this point the Chalk Comd
became concerned about the health of EPWs 2 & 3. The Chalk Comd of Heli 2 then
informed the Chalk Comd of Heli 1 and the ARF Comd that he suspected that EPWs
2 & 3 were unconscious and may have potentially suffered a heart attack. The
Chalk Comd of Heli 2 requested MT CASEVAC from the US Callsign Comd
2
RESTRICTED

200



ANNEX C:

RESTRICTED .

through Heli 1 Chalk Comd and also informed him and the lll of the Limbless
EPW. Heli 1 Chalk Comd tasked the US Callsign to provide MT for the CASEVAC
and this was repeated by the lili The US MT amrived and was directed to Heli 2 to
collect EPW 2 & 3. The ARF Personnel guarding EPW 2 & 3 placed them on the
US HUMVEE as directed by the US Senior passenger and those ARF personnel on
Heli 2 quickly reboarded in order to complete the mission. The EPW HO/TO
process was then competed by the Jllito the satisfaction of the US Callsign Comd.
All remaining ARF Pers then reboarded Heli 1 and the 2 CH47 moved to another
lotation.

3. Wrt your points on medical care you will be aware that all members of the MSU have been
tasked to another unit & W Coy as part of their enduring op. This left the ARF with no specialist
intrinsic medical cover other than that available at the H1 FST.

4. Finally to put this all in to context the EF para given by the Bl highlighted that these EPW

were potential members of Aii Fedadyeen and suicide bombers. Detailed orders and rehearsals
were conducted by who emphasised the use of minimum force and appropriate

behaviour when handling EPWs, .

S047
Sqn Ldr
OC II Sqn RAF Regt

3
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v 'SO52 Report' “EPW Incident
ARF — Fri 11 APR 03", 14 April 2003
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v 'SO61 Letter’, “"EPW INCIDENT —
11 APR 03", 15 April 2003
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ANNEX D:

Certificate of Death for Mahmud, Tarik S
(presumed), 11 April 2003

COPY OF ORIGINAL HANDWRITTEN CERT
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{Dutor, Nurze. dliniswer of Religrwy Foliva Timo) T CREMATED, CIVE REASCN. (12 mucw souws rsguind, continus oo nvvene sii-:)l.

Arrived by Humver, wes slectod by Driver that he had possible BOA. Was irmmediaicly examined by the erdzesigned and
| toime ta qave na p‘.cls:t cargtid or radia’-pilnieral noe heasthent (unl’:nown_) on anscrhn®nn an breath on exam, non nesclive

29pils.(B), evancsis in nail beds. Pronoancsd dead seen tiv mirutes later by Dr Wenzel and he agreed with death
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CERTIFIED A TRUE COPY T e S
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TSACNATURE o T ADDRESS
% 0az
REDACTED FiBragy, NC 28310
SIGHALLEE ADORESS

COPY OF ORIGINAL ITANDWRITTEN CERTIFICATE

206



ANNEX E:

ANNEX E:

"Tripartite Agreement’

AN ARRANGEMENT FOR THE TRANSFER OF PRISONERS OF WAR,
CIVILIAN INTERNEES, AND CIVILIAN DETAINEES BETWEEN THE
FORCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, THE UNITED
KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND, AND

AUSTRALIA.

ﬂﬁsmmmhﬁs&amcdminlbemddnmufuﬁmhmbdy
ddeleUS.UK.aAwmebﬂnwmdydmoflheodum.
myﬁWdWﬂ.GVﬂhm.MGﬂmDﬂmmw
operations against Iraq. The Parties undertake as follows:

This srrangement will be implemented in accordance with the Geneva
Convention Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War and the Geneva
Coavention Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War, as
well as customary international Jaw.

US.UK.mdAmulnmwm.nmmnydmmMmpt(u
Accepting Powers) prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian detainees
who have fallen into the power of any of the other parties (the Detaining
Power), and will be responsible for maintaining and safeguarding all such
individuals whose custody has been transferred to them. Transfers of
prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian detainees between Accepting
Powers may take place as motually determined by both the Accepting Power
and the Detaining Power.

Amrangements to transfer prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian
detainces who are casualties will be expedited, in order that they may be
treated according to their medical priority. All such transfers will be
administered and recorded within the systems established under this
arrangement for the transfer of prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian
detainees.

Any prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian detainees transferred by a
Detaining Power will be retumed by the Accepting Power to the Detaining
Power without delay upon request by the Detaining Power.

The release or repatriation or removal to temitories outside Iraq of transferred
prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian detainees will only be made
upoa the mutual arrangement of the Detaining Power and the Accepting
Power.

The Detaining Power will retain full rights of access to any prisoners of war,
civilian internces, and civilian detainees transferred from Detaining Power
custody while such persons are in the custody of the Accepting Power.

The Accepting Power will be responsible for the sccurate accountability of all
prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian detainees transferred to it
Sech records will be available for inspection by the Detaining Power upon
request. I prisoners of war, civilian interees, or civilian detainees are
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12.

13.

14,

returned (0 the Detaining Power, the records (or a true copy of the sume)
relating to those prisoncrs of war, civilian internees, and civilian detainees will
also be handed over.

The Detaining Powers will assign liaison officers to Accepting Powers in
order to facilitate the implementation of this arrangement.

The Detaining Power will be solely responsible for the classification under
Articles 4 and 5 of the Geneva Convention Relative 10 the Treatment of
Prisoners of War of potential prisoners of war captured by its forces. Prior to
such a determination being made, such detainees will be treated as prisoners of
war and afforded all the rights and protections of the Convention even if
transferred to the custody of an Accepting Power.

Where there is doubt as to which party is the Detaining Power, all Pasties will
be jointly responsible for and have full access to all persons detained (and any
records concerning their treatment) uatil the Detaining Power has by mutual
arrangement been deteymined.

To the exteat that jurisdiction may be exercised for criminal offenses, 1o
include pre-capture offences, allegedly commitied by prisonere of war, oivilian
internees, and civilian detainees prior to a transfer 10 an Accepting Power,
primary jurisdiction will initially rest with the Detaining Power. Detaining
Powers will give favorsble consideration to any request by an Accepting
Power to waive jurisdiction.

Primery jurisdiction over breaches of disciplinary regulations and judicial
offenses allegedly committed by prisoners of war, civilian intemees, and
civilian detainees afler transfer to an Accepting Power will rest with the
Accepting Power.

The Detaining Power will reimburse the Accepting Power for the costs
involved in maintaining prisoners of war, civilian internees, and civilian
detainces transferred pursuant (w Uiy wrrangccnl.

At the request of one of the Parties, the Parties will consult on the
implementation of this arrangement,

Done at Camp As Sayliysh, Doha, Qaear on this 25 day of March 2001,

For the United States of America For the United Kingdom of Great Britain

John P. Abi
LTG, USA

And Northern [reland

 [f

United Kingdom National Contingent

Depury Cor ard
United States Central Command Commander
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For and on bebalf of Australia

)

M. R. McNam
Brigadier
Commander Australian National Headquarters
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ANNEX F:

Extracts from Annex 3A, and Appendix 3B1
and 3F to Joint Warfare Publication 1-10,
March 2001

JWP 1-10

ANNEX 3A - PRISONERS OF WAR HANDLING AIDE

MEMOIRE
. [ COMBAT TROOI'S
' WHGISA s Ememy personned in or aut of wnifisem wha carty amms opertly.
PRISONER OF &  Chiflans who sccompany U Armed Foecrs of the cieiny c.g war
YWARY currespoadents, supply contractors. qvilkm rginbers of Arcraft crows.

&  Crews of inarchant ships and cvil wirerufi belanging to the enemy.

IFIN DOUBT - TREAT AS PV

ACTION ON + Disarm - Search - Admindster Firsl Add Gf required)
CAPTURE » Sepregaie Officers, NCOs. Other Ranks, Fernales from Males, and
. Juvewides (under 13) from bath.

‘ »  Escort to Unit or Sub-Unit HQ 25 direeted.

ACTION ATURIT | «  Tagor Label PW.
OR & Remove und Tag or Labek: :
SUB-UNIT HQ « Weapuns, i
* Docipents or eguipmand cagtisned wilh (e PW.
» Do not Remueye:
& Clotzing,
Protective Equipmnest.
Personal chiccts. .
113 dises o dotuments,
Aoty medaten,
Medical or religious accoutrements from Retained Personoet
»  Safe Castody: Treat humanely, )
»  Shelter PW from enemy fire and the clements.
. = Provide foad, water, and prodective clothing
& Move PW oul of the combal zone as saon as possible,
D » Do not fratecnive with PW.

¥y & 9w & &

* Carvy omt Tacries? Questioning,
& FEscort PYV te Collecling Poiat.

MINIMEN Do NOT use Force to gsin nfonstion ftom 3 PW,
INFORMATION hen questioned, a PW is voquired ooly to give:

= Nane~ Rank — Ninbey ~ Dale of Bicth
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RESPONSIBILITIES

Ji

IWP -1t

THE STAFF

PW Policy. -

All aspects of gafe cusiody and evscastion of PW.
Detevinimbion of PW stetas.

Transfer of PW betwren netions,

JLI3
¢ Cstimating PW omnbers,
* Crganiing Toctical Questioning and Interrogation of PW.
+ Estehfghing and mamnicg the-PW Handking Organisalion.
* Locaing "W facilities
» Ordering the carstruction of PW facifilies,
M
* Provision of medice! support,
& Peovision of consineiion materials for PW Facilities
s Adninissecmg PW (feeditg, cithing, 1novigg and

THE COMMANDER

INTELLIGENCE

As part of lutclligenoe Preparstion of the Batdefield, J2 statt owke
uswessmed of iefibood of significant nunnbers of PW being captured in |
the cnirse of the operation,

THE ESTIMATE

13 9aff make provision for impact of significant £% caphure in
corsideting “Other Relevant factors” as pari of the Estinate Process,

RESPONSIBILITIES

THE PLAN 13 staif make provision for Handlicg PW it Plan.
COMMANDER'S  ° Comander's respoasibilitics for PW ae summarised as ensuring dhat

» Todivickuuls under bis conunand conply with the four 1949 Geneva
Conventiona and. Additional Protogo] 1.

* PW caplured by forces under his cormamand are reated in
neenmdance with the Laws of Armad Conflict,

& Aq appeopriate PW Handling Orpaniotiem & in place withon his
fonmaton, n

« PW are evacimled as soom s passible and are not neexdllessl
cxposcd to danper. :

5.‘\-2 .
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- JWP 1=

APPENDIX 3B1 — GUIDANCE FOR ESCORTING AND
GUARDING PRISONERS OF WAR

1.  This Appendix sets out the principles for the escorting and grarding of PW. Tt
deals only with the escorting and guarding of able bodied PW. Escort and Guard
arrangements for wounded and sick PW arz to be condueted in accordance with
medical advice. Many of the prmr.ap]cs sef oul for able-badicd PW will also apply In
wounded and sick PW:

The Escort

2.  Rode of the Escort. The role of the Bscort is both to protect and prevent abie-
bodied PW from escaping or being liberated in the course vf 2 move from one PW
facility 1o another. The responsibility of an escort for the PW in ils charge begis ai
B the despatching facility where the escort accepts custody of the PW and ends when
. they are handed over to the staff of the destination facility.

3. The Size of Kscorts. The basic principle of Escorting is that the Escort 15 to
consist of a-formed body of troops. The guidelines for the movement of PW and
requirement for escotts arc outlined in Appendix 3B3. Each situation will be different
and local factors will determine the Tinal decision on the numbcr of ceconts required,
Ultimately there must be sufficient escosts to deter PW from escaping.

4 Planoing the Move. I order to plan the move, there are certaim basic picces of
. information which must be kmown:

a. The Number of Prisoners of War 1¢ be Escorted. This will determine
the size of the Escort.

b.  The Condition and Morale of the Prisoners of War. Tired and co-
® operative captives-do not need as many escorts as thase who are fresher and
hetter motivated.

c.  The Method of Movement. Movement on foot ofiers more
opporluhities for escape than vehicle movement. Cevtain types of movement
such as movement by truck, teain and air require specific precantions to be
taken by the escort.

J.  The Terrain. The terrain across which the PW are 1o be nioved will’
influcnce the sumbers in the escort and the method of escorting the PW. Close
terrain will require more escorts then desert,

351
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JWP 1<t

e.  Enemy AcilyMy, Any likelihood of enemy interforence with the move
will require an escort capable of taking offensive action to profect itself and
oatntain the PW itis escorting m captivity.

f.  The Location of Other Units om the Route. Before departure, the
Escort shoutld familiarise itself with the kocation of nils on its plamed rowte m
order {o be able o seek asmstanoe or make rest stops in the course of the

Journey.

g The Commsunication Plag. The Escort is fo be m communication at all
times with the headquartcrs of the. forimation throngh whose AQ it is moving.

S. Prisoners of War Transport. [t is unlikely that thero will be dedicated
transport for the evacuation of PW. Their movement will be based on the repm
jouneys of vehicles and aircraft detivering combat supplies forward to the gencral
area trom which the PW are to be moved, Transport arrangements will be co-
ordinited by the J[ and J4 staffs at the formation headquaners concerned. The
maovement of PW on foot will only be carricd out where there is no transport available
and immediate evacuation is essential for operational reasons.

6.  Briefing of Prisoners of War. PW are to be brefed, through an interpreter
where pecessary, before the move takes place. The briefing is to includc:

a.  The meaning of the word ‘Halt’,
b.  The Escort’s Orders for Opening Fire.

c.  That the ‘Silence Rule’ apphcs at al] times throug-noutthe move (ie no
talking to the Escort, no 1alking to each other). -

d.  The actions which PW are (o take it the case of an emergency.

7. Briefing of the Escort. Before the move takes place the Escort is to be briefad.
This briefing is to include:

s.  The destination, method of movement and routé for the evacuation.

t.  The understanding by the Escott of its responsibility for the PW aod the
need 1o sefeguard them.

¢, '[he requircment for PW to foflow orders and instructions.

d.  Theneed for all members of the Escort to be aware of poiential
opporiunities far the PW 1o escape in the course of the move and of measures

1o prevent this happening.”

381-2
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JWP I-10

g, The undesstanding that PW arc only fo be spoken to wlien i is necessory
to give orders and mameain conirod,

f  What the appropriate actions are in the evemt of ant eénemy attack or other

emergency.
% What actions are to be taken to foil escane atiempts.
h. ROE.

8. Prisaners of War Documentation. The Fscort Comnander is 1o ensure that on
accepting custody of the PW, he is provided with:

a. A nomiual roll of the PW wha are to be escorted.

b.  The appropriate PW documentfation (og F/PW 778 Parl B for PW

. moving from Collecung Point to PWRU and F/PW 128 and associated
documents for PW moving from PW Holding Area to another Holding Arca or
PW Camp). '

The Gusvd

9. Rabe. The role of the Guard is both to protect and 1o prevent the escape of PW
from a PV [ucility, such as a PAV Holding Area or PW Camp and o maintaio
discipltne within such facilities. Guards will also have a subsidiaey role in the day to
day administration of the facility. The MPS will nonmally provide custodial staff to
assist the Gmard Force and also provide an interface between the PW and the internal
Guard Force. ' .

10.  Provision of the Guard For¢e. The Guard Force at a PW Holditg Area or PW
Carop is to be found from all or pwst of a formed unit or units, designared at the outset

¥ of operations by 33 at JTFHQ and placed under command of the PWHO. The
designated unit or units should have no other task apart from the provision of guards
for PW Racilities.

Ll. The Size of the Guard ¥arce. The ratio of Gnards to PWis tobe I x
Company sized Sub-Unit io cach 500 PW Compound. 'fhis provides for | x Platoon
sized Guard Force o be on duty at any onc fune.

12, Organisation of the Guard Force. The Guard Force is to be composed of four
clernents:

a.  External Guards. Extemal guards secure the perimeter of the facility
by matming guard towers aixd gate posts. Their main role is to ensure that PW
reartain confined inside the faciiity bt they also have the subsidinry role of

ig1-3
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WP L-to

proteeting Lhe tacility against atfack or attempts to infiktrate the area from
outside. ) ]

b.  Eatermal Guards. Internal guards maintain segregation and orcher within
the facility and restrict access to areas where the possibility of escape may
exist such as buildings sited close to the perimeter of the compound.

c.  Roving Seniries. Rovmg SEntTies opmtmg in pairs carry out random
patrols within the perimeter of the compound.

d.  The Quick Reaction Force. The Quick Reaction Force (QRF) iy the
reserve foroe for the fagility and will normally be found from off duty
members of the Guard Force. The roles of the QRF will include:

(1)  Reinforcing the extenal and internal guards where necessary.
(2) Defending the perimeter against cutside attack.,

{3}  Pursuing and re-captising escaped PW in the immediate area of
the fac;]lt)'

{4) Resolving any internal breakdown of PW discipline.

§3. Dops. Whercver possible, the Guard Force is to be augmented with dogs and
handlers. ' The dogs should include at least one tracker dog in their number, The
deployment aud use of dogs is to be at the discretion of the Camp Commander beering
m mind both the threat posed by the PW and the impact of the usc of dogs on some
religious and cultural groupings.

Concilmnn

14.  The efficient escotting and guanding of PW is the key fo the conduct of an
effective and humane PW intemnment system. ‘Whilst the tasks involved may not be as
glamorous as those carried out by persomnei engsged in vperations, they are of
considerablc importance in coniributing to the success of operations. They achieve
this by reducing the number of encmy forces available for combat and at the same
tine contributing to the intelligence collection effon.

IS. The guidelincs sct ontin this Appendix will cnable those involved in the
esooriing and goarding of PW to make a quantifiable contribution to the suceessful
conduct of operations.

gL 4
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- of PW on work projects fulfils part of this remit but there are other requireiments
placed on the detaining pawer s 4 result of Chapter V of Section 1.

K78, Religions Activity, PW are to be permitted o practics their teligion or
oxercise thefr beliefs provided that this is carried out within the ailes of camp
discipline. A phace of worship is to be provided whete wis is possible. Chaplains and
other spivitual leaders are to be allowed to minister to PWs of the same wefigion or

" beliet and where Uere i no minister or whg}ous leader, a lay PW may be appouwed
try the Camp Commandet to lead worship.

3F79. Intellectual and Physical Activities. Intelleciual, educational and recreational
activitics, lm.ludmg sports and games, ar¢ ko be encouraged among PW. In arder to
allow these activities to takc place, suitable facilities and equipment are t be pmvnd:xl
by the Detaining Power,* - PW arc to be provided with suitable ont of doors arcas in

) which o take exercisc and these are included in the layouts for camps and compounds
set out at &mmex 3B, '

SECTION X1V - CIVIL LEGAL MATTERS

3F80. Civil Legal Status of Prisoners of War. PW retzin their bgal status a3
citizens of their country. The Detaining Power may not restrict this status exeept
where it is an inevitable CODSCQUENCE of the PW bemg in cagtivity. The PW refains the
nglt to cxexcise bis legal nglns in his own country in suck maucrs us disposing of
propetty, tuaking wills, giving consent to mamage or to voting *' This will normally

be conducted by using a lawyer or a proxy.

3F81. Legal Documents. The Detaining Power st mve PW facilitics for the

preparation and execution of legal documertts, espemally powers of attoruey and wills

and for the sending of thesc to the PW’s parent nation through the Protecting Power or
& the ICRC. PW are ertitled o seek legal advice to agsist thom in the drafting,

execulion and authentication of legal documents,

SECTION XV - DEATH AND BURIAL OF PRISONERS OF WAR

IF82. The death of PW in captivity is an emotive cvent capable of misinterpretation
and exploitation for propuganda purposes by the encmy. 1t is therefore particularly
imporiant that the circinstances survounding the death of a PW are scrupulously
nvestigated by RMP SIB and recorded and that the subsequent dispasal of the remains
is undertaken with the maximum dignity possible in the crcamstances,

L C A IETE o)
Wi 38,
Gk TY.
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IF&3. Applicabliity of this lnstreetion, The instructions set out in this section
cover the death of PW at atty time in-the penod of their captivity from (he moresit of
their capfine to their eventual release or repatriation. These instructions do nol apply
to enemy found dead on the hatdeficld. _

1F84. Notifleation and Registration of Death. Imemediately following the death of
a PW a report is to be made {o J1 at JTFHQ and the PWIB using the PW NOTICAS.
The format of this repoxt is set out in Annex 3D. Following this report, and after

mirtiaf and any subscquent investigation, a formal Notification of Death in the fomnat

set ouf for a Death Cedificate in Ammex 3D fo this publication, is to be sent-as soon as
possible to J1 at JTFHQ and the PWIB. b the event of the un-natural death of a PW,
an additional copy of the Notification of Death is-to be forwarded for coward
transmission to the Prutecting Power. The death of 2 PW taking place in the UK is
additionalfly to bé notified lo the appropnaic Registrar of Births and Deaths for the

area in which death ocourred. ™

- 3F85.. Investigation into the Circamstances of Death or fajury. An investigation
is fo be held into every death (or serious injury) of a PW which is suspected to have
heen caused by a guard or ¢scort, another PW or any other person as weil as any other
death the cause of which is not known, Depending upon the circumstances
srrounding the death, 1 at JTFHQ will divect how the invesiigatian is to be
conducted, This may take the form of the convening of an apptopnarte form of formal
inguiry in conjuncaon with inquities conrducted by the provost services.. The findimgs
of the inquiry, togetber with statements raken from witnesses, are to be forwarded to
the Protecting Fower. [n the event that an inquiry indicates that a person or persons is
wuilty of causing the death {or serious injury), GC 11 rquires the Dclzuumg Power to
take ail possible measures for the prosecution of the thosc responsible.

3FB6. Burial and Cremation. As & goneral principle, subject (o any religious or
eihnic vartations, the funeral arrangements for a PW are to be the same as those which
would be made for 2 British serviceman dyiag w the JOA. In perticular, the disposal

of the remains of a deceased PW are to be cartied out in accordance with the following
instructions:

a.  Exawmination of the Body. Beforc burial or cremation takes place, there
is to be & medical examination of the body in order fo confirm death and,
whete tiecessary, to identify the remams. [t wiil be dormal practice for an

RMP SIB Investigator fo be present dwing this post mortem investigation.

b.  Cremation. PW may only be cremated tor imperative reasons of
hygiene, on account of the religion of e P or in accordance with a wrilten

" I 120,
e 10,
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roxquest by the PW or bv the Prisonan:’ Representative on the PW's behalf.
“Ehe fact that cremation has taken place and the reason for this action is fo be
stated in the Death Ceptificate.

C.

Burial. GC TII places a duty on the detaining authoritics to ensure that:

(1)  PW who have died in captivity afe honourably buried, if possible
according to the rites of the religion to which they belonged.

(2)  Their gruwves are fespected. suitably mainizined and marked 50
that they may be foutd 4t any litne.

{3) Wherever possiblc, deceased PW who depended on the same
Power are buried in the same location.

{4)  Unlcss circumstances necessitate the use of collective gemves.
deceased PW are to be buried m individual graves.

(5) DPetails of all burials amwl graves are recarded with the Graves
Registration Service and ashes of cremated PW are to be retained by the

~ Cinaves Registration Scrvice until they can be disposed of i accordance

with the wishes of the Power on whom they depended.

3F87. Death at Ses. [n general, many of the same instruetions applying to the

- disposal of the remains of a PW who dies on land will apply in cases where PW dic at
sea In particular, if hurial at sea has to take place, the same procedure prcscnbed for
the burist of 2 Brifish servicemun at sea is to he followed.

3F88. Prisoners of War Wills. After the dearh of o PW, any will held by the PWHO

with the PW"a docaments is to be forwarded, together with a certified copy, to JI at

ITFEQ for vnwand transmission to the PWIB. The otiginal will then be passed to the
@  Protecting Power and a certified capy to the Centrs! PW Information Bureau.

322

218



